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PART

Item Business

CTS Corporation CTS we our us or the Company is global manufacturer of electronic components and sensors

and supplier of electronics manufacturing services CTS was established in 1896 as provider of high-quality telephone

products and was incorporated as an Indiana corporation in February 1929 The principal executive offices are located in

Elkhart Indiana

We design manufacture assemble and sell broad line of electronic components and sensors and provide electronics

manufacturing services primarily to original equipment manufacturers OEMs for the automotive computer communications

medical industrial and defense and aerospace markets We operate manufacturing facilities located throughout North America

Asia and Europe and serve major markets globally Sales and marketing are accomplished through our sales engineers

independent manufacturers representatives and distributors

SEGMENTS AND PRODUCTS BY MAJOR MARKETS

We have two reportable segments Electronics Manufacturing Services EMS and Components and Sensors

EMS includes the higher level assembly of electronic and mechanical components into finished subassembly or assembly

performed under contract manufacturing agreement with an OEM or other contract manufacturer Additionally for some

customers we provide full turnkey manufacturing and completion including design bill-of-material management logistics and

repair

Products from the EMS segment are principally sold in the communications computer medical industrial and defense and

aerospace OEM markets Other smaller markets include OEM customers in consumer electronics instruments and controls and

networking Products from the Components and Sensors segment are principally sold in the automotive and communications

OEM markets Other smaller markets include computer medical and defense and aerospace

Components and sensors are products which perform specific electronic functions for given product family and are intended

for use in customer assemblies Components and sensors consist principally of automotive sensors and actuators used in

commercial or consumer vehicles electronic components used ri communications infrastructure and computer markets

components used in computer and other high-speed applications switches resistor networks and potentiometers used to serve

multiple markets and fabricated piezoelectric materials and substrates used primarily in medical industrial and defense and

aerospace markets

The following tables provide breakdown of net sales by segment and market as percent of consolidated net sales

EMS Components Sensors Total

As of consolidated net sales 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Markets

Automotive 25Io 26% 25% 25% 26% 25%

Communications 16% 14% 16% 7% 5% 6% 23% 19% 22%

Computer 12% 19% 24% 2h 1% 2% 14% 20% 26%

Medical 6Io 5% 6% 1% 1% 1% 7% 6% 7%

Industrial 12% 14% 7% 12% 14% 7%

Defense and Aerospace 11% 7% 5% 1% 1% 12% 8% 5%

Other 1% .% 1% 6% 7% 7% 7% 7% 8%

of consolidated net sales 58% 59% 59% 42% 41% 41% 100% 100% 100%

Net sales to external customers segment operating earnings total assets by segment net sales by geographic area and long

lived assets by geographic area are contained in Note Segments appearing in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements as noted in the Index appearing under Item 15 and which is incorporated herein by reference
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General market conditions in the global automotive communications computer medical industrial and defense and aerospace

markets and in the overall economy affect our business Any adverse occurrence that results in significant decline in the

volume of sales in the related industries or in an overall downturn in the business and operations of our customers in these

industries could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

The following table identifies major products by their segment and markets Many products are sold into several OEM markets

Defense

and

Automotive Communications Computer Medical Industrial Aerospace Other

Product Description Market Market Market Market Market Market Markets

EMS

Integrated Interconnect Systems and

Backpanels including Final

Assembly and Test

Complex Printed Circuit Board

Assemblies

COMPONENTS AND SENSORS

Ceramic Filters and Duplexers

Quartz Crystals Clocks Precision

Oscillators and Frequency Modules

Sensors and Actuators

Resistor Networks

DIP Switches and Potentiometers

Piezoelectric and Piezoceramics

Products

Electromagnetic Interference and

Radio Frequency Interference

Filters

MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION

Sales and marketing to OEMs for both segments is accomplished through our sales engineers independent manufacturers

representatives and distributors We maintain sales offices in China Japan Scotland Singapore Taiwan and the United States

Approximately 88% of 2008 net sales were attributable to coverage by our sales engineers

Our sales engineers generally service the largest customers with application specific products The engineers work closely

with major customers in designing and developing products to meet specific customer requirements

We utilize the services of independent manufacturers representatives in the United States and other countries for customers

not serviced directly by our sales engineers for both of our segments Independent manufacturers representatives receive

commissions from CTS During 2008 approximately 10% of net sales were attributable to coverage by independent manufactur

ers representatives We also use independent distributors in our Components and Sensors segment Independent distributors

purchase component and sensor products from CTS for resale to customers In 2008 independent distributors accounted for

approximately 2% of net sales
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RAW MATERIALS

We utilize wide variety of raw materials and purchased parts in our manufacturing processes The following are the most

significant raw materials and purchased parts identified by segment

EMS Power supplies and converters prefabricated steel printed circuit boards passive electronic components and

semiconductors integrated circuits connectors cables and modules

Components

and Sensors Conductive inks and contactors which contain precious metals primarily silver and palladium passive

electronic components integrated circuits and semiconductors rare earth materials for ceramic

compositions ceramic components plastic components molding compounds printed circuit boards and

assemblies quartz blanks and crystals wire harness assemblies copper brass and steel-based raw

materials and components

These raw materials are purchased from several vendors and except for certain semiconductors rare earth materials and

conductive inks we do not believe we are dependent upon one or limited number of vendors Although we purchase all of

our semiconductors rare earth materials and conductive inks from limited number of vendors alternative sources are

available In 2008 substantially all of these materials were available in adequate quantities to meet our production demands

We do not currently anticipate any raw material shortages that would slow production However the lead times between the

placement of orders for certain raw materials and purchased parts and actual delivery to CTS may vary Occasionally we may
need to order raw materials in greater quantities and at higher than optimal prices to compensate for the variability of lead

times for delivery

Precious metal prices may have significant effect on the cost and selling price of many CTS products particularly some

ceramic filters sensors resistor networks and switches

PATENTS TRADEMARKS AND LICENSES

We maintain program of obtaining and protecting U.S and non-U.S patents relating to products which we have designed and

manufactured as well as processes and equipment used in our manufacturing technology We were issued nine new
U.S patents and two non-U.S counterpart patents in 2008 and currently hold in excess of 225 U.S patents and 137

non-U.S counterpart patents Patents have greater impact on the Components and Sensors segment than on the EMS

segment which does not rely significantly on any patent We have eight registered U.S trademarks and 18 foreign counterparts

We do not believe that our success is materially dependent on the existence or duration of any patent group of patents or

trademarks

We have licensed the right to use several of our patents to both U.S and non-U.S companies In 2008 license and royalty

income was less than 1% of net sales We believe our success is not materially dependent upon any licensing arrangement

where we are either the licensor or licensee

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Our 15 largest customers represented 53% 59% and 61% of net sales in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Sales to Hewlett-

Packard Company amounted to 11% of net sales in 2008 17% of net sales in 2007 and 22% of net sales in 2006

EMS segment revenues from Hewlett-Packard Company represented $76.8 million or 19% $117.2 million or 29% and

$143.2 million or 37% of the segments sales in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

The Company continues to broaden its customer base Changes in the level of our customers orders have in the past had

significant impact on our operating results If major customer reduces the amount of business it does with us or substantially

changes the terms of that business there could be an adverse impact on our operating results

Additionally we expect to continue to depend on sales to our major customers Because our customers are under no obligation

to continue to do business with us on long-term basis there is always the possibility that one or more customers may choose

to work with competitor and reduce their business with us Customers may also reduce or delay their business with us

because of economic or other conditions or decisions that reduce their need for our products or services Since it is difficult to

replace lost business on timely basis it is likely that our operating results would be adversely affected if one or more of our

major customers were to cancel delay or reduce large amount of business with us in the future If one or more of our

customers were to become insolvent or otherwise unable to pay for our products and/or services our operating results

financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected
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ORDER BACKLOG

Order backlog may not provide an accurate indication of present or future revenue levels for the Company For many

components and sensors and EMS products the period between receipt of orders and expected delivery is relatively short

Additionally large orders from major customers may include backlog covering an extended period of time Production

scheduling and delivery for these orders could be changed or canceled by the customer on relatively short notice

The following table shows order backlog by segment and in total as of January 25 2009 and January 27 2008

in millions January 25 2009 January 27 2008

EMS $52.3 70.7

Components and Sensors 21.1 65.2

Total $80.0 $135.9

Order backlog as of January 25 2009 will generally be filled during the 2009 fiscal year

COMPETITION

In the EMS segment we compete with number of well-established U.S and non-U.S manufacturers on the basis of process

capability price technology quality reliability and delivery in the markets in which we participate Some of our competitors

have greater manufacturing and financial resources than CTS However we do not generally pursue extremely high volume

highly price sensitive business as some of our larger competitors do

In the Components and Sensors segment we compete with many U.S and non-U.S manufacturers principally on the basis of

product features price technology quality reliability delivery and service Most of our product lines encounter significant

global competition The number of significant competitors varies from product line to product line No one competitor competes

with us in every product line but many competitors are larger and more diversified than CTS Some competitors are also our

customers for components and sensors and EMS products

In both the EMS and Components and Sensors segments some customers have reduced or plan to reduce their number of

suppliers while increasing the volume of their purchases Most customers are demanding higher quality reliability and delivery

standards from us as well as our competitors These trends create opportunities for us but also increase the risk of loss of

business to competitors We are subject to competitive risks that represent the nature of the electronics industry including

short product life cycles and technical obsolescence

We believe we compete most successfully in custom products manufactured to meet specific applications of major OEMs and

with EMS products oriented toward high mix and low to medium volume outsourcing needs of OEMs

NON-U.S REVENUES

In 2008 53% of net sales to external customers originated from non-U.S operations compared to 61% in 2007 and 60% in 2006 At

December 31 2008 and 2007 approximately 40% of total assets were located at non-U.S operations substantial portion of these

assets other than cash and equivalents cannot readily be liquidated We believe the business risks to our non-U.S operations

though substantial are normal risks for non-U.S businesses These risks include currency controls and changes in currency

exchange rates longer collection cycles political and transportation risks economic downturns and inflation government

regulations and expropriation Our non-U.S manufacturing facilities are located in Canada China Czech Republic Mexico

Scotland Singapore Taiwan and Thailand

Net sales to external customers originating from non-U.S operations for the EMS segment were $144.5 million in 2008 compared

to $201.0 million in 2007 and $211.0 million in 2006 Net sales to external customers originating from non-U.S operations for the

Components and Sensors segment were $233.8 million in 2008 compared to $215.0 million in 2007 and $181.5 million in 2006

Additional information about net sales to external customers operating earnings and total assets by segment and net sales to

external customers and long-lived assets by geographic area is contained in Note Segments appearing in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements as noted in the Index appearing under Item 15 and which is incorporated herein by

reference

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

In 2008 we spent $18.3 million for research and development We spent $15.9 million for research and development in 2007 and

the same amount in 2006 Ongoing research and development investment continues in the Components and Sensors segment
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Our research and development activities are primarily focused on expanded applications and new product development as well

as current product and process enhancements Research and development expenditures in the EMS segment are typically very

low

We believe strong commitment to research and development is required for future growth in the Components and Sensors

segment Most of our research and development activities relate to developing new innovative products and technologies

improving product flow and adding product value to meet the current and future needs of our customers We provide our

customers with full systems support to ensure quality and reliability through all phases of design launch and manufacturing to

meet or exceed customer requirements Many such research and development activities benefit one or limited number of

customers or potential customers All research and development costs are expensed as incurred

EMPLOYEES

We employed 5044 people at December 31 2008 with 74% of these people outside the United States Approximately

114 employees at one location in the United States were covered by two collective bargaining agreements as of December 31

2008 One agreement which covers 80 employees is scheduled to expire in 2015 and the other which covers 34 employees is

scheduled to expire in 2013 We employed 4746 people at December 31 2007

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We are incorporated in the State of Indiana Our principal corporate office is located at 905 West Boulevard North Elkhart

Indiana 46514

Our Internet address is http//www.ctscorp.com We make available through our Internet website our annual reports on

Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-U current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished

pursuant to Section 13a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file

such material with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC
Further copy of this annual report on Form 10-K is located at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Room 1580

Washington D.C 20549 Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at

1-800-SEC-0330 The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports proxy and information statements and other

information regarding our filings at http//www.sec.gov

Item 1A Risk Factors

The following are certain risk factors that could affect our business financial condition and operating results These risk factors

should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K because these factors could cause our actual results and condition to differ materially from those projected in

forward-looking statements Before you invest in CTS you should know that making such an investment involves some risks

including the risks described below The risks that are highlighted below are not the only ones that we face If any of the

following risks actually occur our business financial condition or operating results could be negatively affected

Continuing global economic uncertainty and constricted credit market may affect our results of operations and our ability to

obtain capital

The global economy is in poor condition Markets have experienced increased volatility and future business conditions are

uncertain During the past year we have experienced stock price volatility In addition many of our customers particularly

those served by our Components and Sensors segment have experienced rapid deterioration in demand for their products As

result demand for our products has decreased and customers have delayed delivery dates into the future Credit difficulties

and economic ccntraction have especially affected our automotive customers who have in quick succession been exposed to

an abrupt shift in demand for smaller vehicles precipitous decline in overall vehicle sales declining stock prices and the

unavailability of credit to fund ongoing capital needs and facilitate consumers vehicle purchases If the current conditions

continue reduced demand for our products may cause an excess of manufacturing capacity and staffing costs reducing gross

margins and operating earnings until reductions are made to meet new demand levels In the event major automotive

customer or any large customer were to become insolvent contracts may be canceled and we may not be paid in full or at all

for products already delivered Our business financial condition and operating earnings may be materially and adversely

affected by such events

In the event we need capital in excess of the limits of our existing credit facility credit may be difficult to obtain or

unreasonably expensive due to the current state of the markets The unavailability of reasonably priced credit may affect our

ability to make strategic acquisitions finance operations or otherwise operate our business Further tight credit markets may
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require us to employ other means to raise capital such as the issuance of debt the sale of equity or the suspension of

payment of dividends to shareholders

Continuing losses in the stock market could negatively impact pension asset returns and ultimately cash flow due to possible

required contributions in the future

We make number of assumptions relating to our pension plans in order to measure the financial position of the plans and the

net periodic benefit cost The most significant assumptions relate to the discount rate the expected long term return on plan

assets and the rate of future compensation increase If these assumptions prove to be significantly different then we may need

to record additional expense relating to the pension plans which could have material effect on our results of operations and

could require cash contributions to fund future pension payments

Because we currently derive significant portion of our revenues from small number of customers any decrease in orders

from these customers could have an adverse effect on our business financial condition and operating results

We depend on small number of customers for large portion of our business and changes in the level of our customers

orders have in the past had significant impact on our results of operations Our 15 largest customers represent substantial

portion of our sales approximately 53% of net sales in 2008 59% of net sales in 2007 and 61% of net sales in 2006 Our largest

customer is Hewlett-Packard Company which represented approximately 11% of our net sales in 2008 If major customer

significantly cancels delays or reduces the amount of business it does with us there could be an adverse effect on our

business financial condition and operating results Such an adverse effect would likely be material if one of our largest

customers significantly reduces its amount of business Significant pricing and margin pressures exerted by key customer

could also materially adversely affect our operating results In addition we generate significant accounts receivable from sales

to our major customers If one or more of our largest customers were to become insolvent or otherwise unable to pay or were

to delay payment for services our business financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected

Negative or unexpected tax consequences could adversely affect our results of operations

Adverse changes in the underlying profitability and financial outlook of our operations in several jurisdictions could lead to

changes in our valuation allowances against deferred tax assets and other tax accruals that could materially and adversely

affect our results of operations

Several countries in which we are located allow for tax incentives to attract and retain business These tax incentives expire

over various periods and are subject to certain conditions with which we expect to comply Our taxes could increase if certain

tax incentives are not renewed upon expiration or tax rates applicable to us in such jurisdictions are otherwise increased In

addition further acquisitions or divestitures may cause our effective tax rate to increase

We base our tax position upon the anticipated nature and conduct of our business and upon our understanding of the tax laws

of the various countries in which we have assets or conduct activities However our tax position is subject to review and

possible challenge by taxing authorities and to possible changes in law which may have retroactive effect We cannot

determine in advance the extent to which some jurisdictions may require us to pay taxes or make payments in lieu of taxes

We are subject to intense competition in the EMS industry

We compete against many providers of electronics manufacturing services Some of our competitors have substantially greater

manufacturing and financial resources and in some cases have more geographically diversified international operations than

we do Our competitors such as Benchmark Electronics Inc and Sanmina-SCI Corporation include both large global EMS

providers and smaller EMS companies that often have regional product service or industry specific focus We also face

competition from the manufacturing operations of our current and future OEM customers which may elect to manufacture their

own products internally rather than outsource the manufacturing to EMS providers In addition we could face competition in

the future from other large global EMS providers such as Celestica Inc Flextronics International Ltd and Jabil Circuit Inc

which currently provide services to some of our largest customers for different products as well as competition from smaller

EMS companies such as Plexus Corp and LaBarge Inc We may be at competitive disadvantage with respect to price when

compared to manufacturers with lower cost structures particularly those with significant offshore facilities located where labor

and other costs are lower Competition may intensify further if more companies enter the markets in which we operate Our

failure to compete effectively could materially adversely affect our business financial condition and operating results

We may be unable to compete effectively against competitors in our Components and Sensors segment

Our Components and Sensors segment operates in highly competitive industries that are characterized by price erosion and

rapid technological change We compete against many domestic and foreign companies some of which have substantially
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greater manufacturing financial research and development and marketing resources than we do If any customer becomes

dissatisfied with our prices quality or timeliness of delivery among other things it could award future business or even move

existing business to our competitors Moreover some of our customers could choose to manufacture and develop particular

products themselves rather than purchase them from us Increased competition could result in price reductions reduced profit

margins and loss of market share each of which could materially adversely affect our business financial condition and

operating results These developments may materially adversely affect our ability to compete against these competitors We
cannot assure you that our products will continue to compete successfully with our competitors products including OEMs
many of which are significantly larger than we are and have greater financial and other resources

We may be unable to keep pace with rapid technological changes that could make some of our products or processes obso

lete before we realize return on our investment

The technologies relating to some of our products have undergone and are continuing to undergo rapid and significant

changes Specifically end markets for electronic components and assemblies are characterized by technological change

frequent new product introductions and enhancements changes in customer requirements and emerging industry standards

The introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards could render our

existing products obsolete and unmarketable before we can recover any or all of our research development and commercial

ization expenses on capital investments Furthermore the life cycles of our products and the products we manufacture for

others vary may change and are difficult to estimate

We cannot provide assurance that we will not experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the successful development

introduction and marketing of new products or product enhancements or that our new products or product enhancements will

adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace and achieve market acceptance If we are unable for technological or

other reasons to develop and market new products or product enhancements in timely and cost-effective manner our

business financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected

Our customers have canceled and may in the future cancel their orders change production quantities or locations or delay

production

We generally do not obtain firm long-term purchase commitments from our customers and have often experienced reduced

lead times in customer orders Customers cancel their orders change production quantities and delay production for number

of reasons Uncertain economic and geopolitical conditions have resulted and may continue to result in some of our customers

delaying the delivery of some of the products we manufacture for them and placing purchase orders for lower volumes of

products than previously anticipated Cancellations reductions or delays by significant customer or by group of customers

have harmed and may continue to harm our results of operations by reducing the volumes of products we manufacture as

well as by causing delay in the recovery of our expenditures for inventory in preparation for customer orders and lower asset

utilization resulting in lower gross margins

In addition customers may require that manufacturing of their products be transitioned from one facility to another to achieve

cost and other objectives Such transfers may result in inefficiencies and costs due to resulting excess capacity and overhead

at one facility and capacity constraints and the inability to fulfill all orders at another In addition we make significant decisions

including determining the levels of orders that we will seek and accept production schedules component procurement

commitments personnel needs and other resource requirements based on our estimates of customer requirements The short-

term nature of our customers commitments and the changes in demand for their products reduce our ability to estimate

accurately future customer requirements This makes it difficult to schedule production and maximize utilization of our

manufacturing capacity Anticipated orders may not materialize and delivery schedules may be deferred as result of changes
in demand for our products or our customers products We often increase staffing and capacity and incur other expenses to

meet the anticipated demand of our customers which cause reductions in our gross margins if customer orders are delayed or

canceled On occasion customers require rapid increases in production which may stress our resources and reduce margins
We may not have sufficient capacity at any given time to meet our customers demands In addition because many of our

costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed over the short term reduction in customer demand harms our gross margin

and operating income until such time as adjustments can be made to activity or operating levels and structural costs

We sell products to customers in cyclical industries which are subject to significant downturns that could materially adversely

affect our business financial condition and operating results

We sell products to customers in cyclical industries which have experienced economic and industry downturns These markets

for our electronic components and sensors and EMS products have softened in the past and may again soften in the future

We may face reduced end-customer demand underutilization of our manufacturing capacity changes in our revenue mix and
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other factors that could adversely affect our results of operations in the near term We cannot predict whether we will achieve

profitability in future periods

Because we derive substantial portion of our revenues from customers in the automotive computer and communications

industries we are susceptible to trends and factors affecting those industries

Net sales to the automotive computer and communications industries represent substantial portion of our revenues Factors

negatively affecting these industries and the demand for products also negatively affect our business financial condition and

operating results Any adverse occurrence including industry slowdown recession political instability costly or constraining

regulations armed hostilities terrorism excessive inflation prolonged disruptions in one or more of our customers production

schedules or labor disturbances that results in significant decline in the volume of sales in these industries or in an overall

downturn in the business and operations of our customers in these industries could materially adversely affect our business

financial condition and operating results Also the automotive industry is generally highly unionized and some of our customers

have in the past experienced labor disruptions Furthermore the automotive industry is highly cyclical in nature and sensitive

to changes in general economic conditions consumer preferences and interest rates These concerns are particularly

heightened during the current economic crisis Consumer demand for automobiles has weakened precipitously consequently

affecting demand for the products we sell to automobile manufacturers and their suppliers Further some of our automotive

customers are at risk financially and have appealed to governmental authorities for financial assistance It is unknown at this

time whether these automotive manufacturers will be given adequate financial assistance to sustain their ability to continue in

business The insolvency of one or more automotive manufacturers may result in the failure to receive payment in full for

products sold and an abrupt cancellation in demand for certain products Furthermore it is unknown when credit markets may

ease and consumer demand for automobiles will rebound Continued weakness in auto demand the insolvency of automobile

manufacturers or their suppliers and continuing constriction of credit markets may negatively and materially affect our facility

utilization cost structure financial condition and operating results

Products we manufacture may contain design or manufacturing defects that could result in reduced demand for our products

or services and liability claims against us

Despite our quality control and quality assurance efforts defects may occur in the products we manufacture due to design or

manufacturing errors or component failure Product defects may result in delayed shipments and reduced demand for our

products We may be subject to increased costs due to warranty claims on defective products Product defects may result in

product liability claims against us where defects cause or are alleged to cause property damage bodily injury or death As we

more deeply penetrate the medical device manufacturing market the risk of exposure to products liability litigation increases

We may be required to participate in recall involving products which are or are alleged to be defective We carry insurance

for certain legal matters involving product liability however we do not have coverage for all costs related to product defects

and the costs of such claims including costs of defense and settlement may exceed our available coverage

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates that have adversely affected and may continue to adversely

affect our business financial condition and operating results

We transact business in various foreign countries We present our consolidated financial statements in U.S dollars but

portion of our revenues and expenditures are transacted in other currencies As result we are exposed to fluctuations in

foreign currencies We have currency exposure arising from both sales and purchases denominated in currencies other than

the U.S dollar Volatility in the exchange rates between the foreign currencies and the U.S dollar could harm our business

financial condition and operating results Furthermore to the extent we sell our products in foreign markets currency

fluctuations may result in our products becoming too expensive for foreign customers

Our operating results vary significantly from period to period

We experience fluctuations in our operating results Some of the principal factors that contribute to these fluctuations are

changes in demand for our products our effectiveness in managing manufacturing processes costs and timing of our

component purchases so that components are available when needed for production while mitigating the risks of purchasing

inventory in excess of immediate production needs the degree to which we are able to utilize our available manufacturing

capacity changes in the cost and availability of components which often occur in the electronics manufacturing industry and

which affect our margins and our ability to meet delivery schedules general economic and served industry conditions local

conditions and events that may affect our production volumes such as labor conditions and political instability

In addition due to the significant differences in the operating income margins in our two reporting segments the mix of sales

between our Components and Sensors segment and our EMS segment affect our operating results from period to period
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We face risks relating to our international operations

Because we have significant international operations our operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely

affected by economic political health regulatory and other factors existing in foreign countries in which we operate Our

international operations are subject to inherent risks which may materially adversely affect us including political and economic

instability in countries in which our products are manufactured expropriation or the imposition of government controls changes

in government regulations export license requirements trade restrictions earnings expatriation restrictions exposure to

different legal standards less favorable intellectual property laws health conditions and standards currency controls

fluctuations in exchange rates increases in the duties and taxes we pay high levels of inflation or deflation greater difficulty in

collecting accounts receivable and longer payment cycles changes in labor conditions and difficulties in staffing and managing

our international operations limitations on insurance coverage against geopolitical risks natural disasters and business

operations communication among and management of international operations In addition these same factors may also place

us at competitive disadvantage to some of our foreign competitors

Furthermore because significant portion of our products are manufactured in Asia including China Singapore Thailand and

Taiwan any conflict or uncertainty in these countries including public health or safety concerns could have material adverse

effect on our business financial condition and operating results

We may restructure our operations which may materially adversely affect our business financial condition and operating

results

In September 2008 we initiated certain restructuring actions to transfer and consolidate certain operations to further improve

its cost structure These actions resulted in the elimination of approximately 400 positions and the write-off of certain leasehold

improvements during the second half of 2008 These actions were substantially complete in December 2008 with all expected

charges recorded

We may incur restructuring and impairment charges in the future if circumstances warrant If we restructure our operations in

the future and are unsuccessful in implementing restructuring plans we may experience disruptions in our operations and

higher ongoing costs which may materially adversely affect our business financial condition and operating results

We may explore acquisitions that complement or expand our business as well as divestitures of various business operations

We may not be able to complete these transactions and these transactions if executed may pose significant risks and may
materially adversely affect our business financial condition and operating results

We intend to explore opportunities to buy other businesses or technologies that could complement enhance or expand our

current business or product lines or that might otherwise offer us growth opportunities We may have difficulty finding these

opportunities or if we do identify these opportunities we may not be able to complete the transactions for reasons including

failure to secure financing Any transactions that we are able to identify and complete may involve number of risks including

the diversion of managements attention from our existing business to integrate the operations and personnel of the acquired or

combined business or joint venture possible adverse effects on our operating results during the integration process difficulties

managing and integrating operations in geographically dispersed locations increases in our expenses and working capital

requirements which reduce our return on invested capital exposure to unanticipated liabilities of acquired companies and our

possible inability to achieve the intended objectives of the transaction In addition we may not be able to successfully or

profitably integrate operate maintain and manage our newly acquired operations or employees We may not be able to

maintain uniform standards controls procedures and policies and this may lead to operational inefficiencies In addition future

acquisitions may result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of additional debt These and other factors

could harm our ability to achieve anticipated levels of profitability at acquired operations or realize other anticipated benefits of

an acquisition and could adversely affect our business and operating results

We have in the past and may in the future consider divesting certain business operations Divestitures may involve number

of risks including the diversion of managements attention significant costs and expenses the loss of customer relationships

and cash flow and the disruption of operations in the affected business Failure to timely complete or consummate divestiture

may negatively affect valuation of the affected business or result in restructuring charges

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property or we infringe or are alleged to infringe on another persons intellectual

property our business financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected

The success of our business depends in part upon our ability to protect trade secrets copyrights and patents obtain or

license patents and operate without infringing on the intellectual property rights of others We rely on combination of trade

secrets copyrights patents nondisclosure agreements and technical measures to protect our proprietary rights in our products

and technology The steps taken by us in this regard may not be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology In
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addition the laws of some foreign countries in which we operate do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do

the laws of the United States Although we continue to evaluate and implement protective measures there can be no

assurance that these efforts will be successful Our inability to protect our intellectual property rights could diminish or

eliminate the competitive advantages that we derive from our technology cause us to lose sales or otherwise harm our

business

We believe that patents will continue to play an important role in our business However there can be no assurance that we

will be successful in securing patents for claims in any pending patent application or that any issued patent will provide us

with any competitive advantage We also cannot provide assurance that the patents will not be challenged by third parties or

that the patents of others will not materially adversely affect our ability to do business

We may become involved in litigation in the future to protect our intellectual property or because others may allege that we

infringed on their intellectual property These claims and any resulting lawsuit could subject us to liability
for damages and

invalidate our intellectual property rights If an infringement claim is successfully asserted by holder of intellectual property

rights we may be required to cease marketing or selling certain products pay penalty for past infringement and spend

significant time and money to develop non-infringing product or process or to obtain licenses for the technology process or

information from the holder We may not be successful in the development of non-infringing alternative or licenses may not

be available on commercially acceptable terms if at all in which case we may lose sales and profits In addition any litigation

could be lengthy and costly and could materially adversely affect us even if we are successful in the litigation

We may experience shortages and increased costs of raw material and required electronic components

In the past from time to time there have been shortages in certain raw materials used in the manufacture of our components

and sensors and certain electronic components purchased by us and incorporated into assemblies and subassemblies

Unanticipated raw material or electronic component shortages may prevent us from making scheduled shipments to customers

Our inability to make scheduled shipments could cause us to experience shortfall in revenue increase our costs and

adversely affect our relationship with affected customers and our reputation as reliable service provider We may be required

to pay higher prices for raw materials or electronic components in short supply and order these raw materials or electronic

components in greater quantities to compensate for variable delivery times We may also be required to pay higher prices for

raw materials or electronic components due to inflationary trends regardless of supply As result raw material or electronic

component shortages and price increases could adversely affect our operating results for particular period due to the

resulting revenue shortfall and increased costs

Loss of our key management and other personnel or an inability to attract key management and other personnel could

materially affect our business

We depend on our senior executive officers and other key personnel to run our business We do not have long-term retention

contracts with our key personnel The loss of any of these officers or other key personnel could adversely affect our

operations Competition for qualified employees among companies that rely heavily on engineering and technology is at times

intense and the loss of qualified employees or an inability to attract retain and motivate additional highly skilled employees

required for the operation and expansion of our business could hinder our ability to conduct research activities successfully

and develop marketable products

We are subject to variety of environmental laws and regulations that expose us to potential financial liability

Our operations are regulated by number of federal state local and foreign environmental and safety laws and regulations

that govern among other things the discharge of hazardous materials into the air and water as well as the handling storage

and disposal of these materials Compliance with environmental laws is major consideration for us because we use hazardous

materials in our manufacturing processes If we violate environmental laws or regulations we could be held liable for

substantial fines damages and costs of remedial actions Our environmental permits could also be revoked or modified which

could require us to cease or limit production at one or more of our facilities thereby materially adversely affecting our

business financial condition and operating results Environmental laws and requirements have generally become more stringent

over time and could continue to do so imposing greater compliance costs and increasing risks and penalties associated with

any violation which also could materially affect our business financial condition and operating results

In addition because we are generator of hazardous wastes even if we fully comply with applicable environmental laws and

requirements we may be subject to financial exposure for costs including costs of investigation and any remediation

associated with contaminated sites at which hazardous substances from our operations have been stored treated or disposed

of We may also be subject to exposure for such costs at sites that we currently own or operate or formerly owned or
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operated Such exposure may be joint and several so that we may be held responsible for more than our share of the

contamination or even for the entire contamination

We have been notified by the Environmental Protection Agency state environmental agencies and in some cases generator

groups that we are or may be potentially responsible party regarding hazardous substances at several sites not owned or

operated by us as well as several sites that we own Although we estimate our potential liability with respect to environmental

violations or alleged violations and other environmental liabilities and reserves for such matters we cannot assure you that our

reserves will be sufficient to cover the actual costs that we incur as result of these matters We also cannot assure you that

additional contamination will not be found in the future either at sites currently known to us or at other sites Any liability we

may have for such matters could materially adversely affect our business financial condition and operating results

Our indebtedness may adversely affect our financial health

As of December 31 2008 our debt balance was $80.5 million consisting of $32.5 million of 2.125% convertible senior

subordinated notes and $48.0 million of borrowings under our revolving credit facility The level of our indebtedness could

among other things increase our vulnerability to general economic and industry conditions including recessions require us to

use cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness thereby reducing our ability to fund working capital capital

expenditures research and development efforts and other expenses limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes

in our business and the industries in which we operate place us at competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that

have less indebtedness limit our ability to borrow additional funds that may be needed to operate and expand our business

Our credit facility and the indenture governing our convertible subordinated notes contain provisions that could materially

restrict our business

Our credit facility contains number of significant covenants that among other things limit our ability to dispose of assets

incur certain additional debt repay other debt or amend subordinated debt instruments create liens on assets make

investments loans or advances make acquisitions or engage in mergers or consolidations make capital expenditures and

engage in certain transactions with our subsidiaries and affiliates Under our credit facility we are required to meet certain

financial ratios In addition the indenture governing our 2.125% convertible senior subordinated notes provides for an

adjustment of the conversion rate if we pay dividends over certain amount or make other distributions on capital stock and

limits our ability to engage in mergers or consolidations

The restrictions contained in our credit facility and in the indenture governing our convertible subordinated notes could limit our

ability to plan for or react to market conditions or meet capital needs or could otherwise restrict our activities or business

plans These restrictions could adversely affect our ability to finance our operations strategic acquisitions investments or other

capital needs or to engage in other business activities that could be in our interests

Our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control If we breach any of these covenants

or restrictions it could result in an event of default under our credit facility the indenture governing our convertible

subordinated notes or documents governing any other existing or future indebtedness default if not cured or waived may

permit acceleration of our indebtedness In addition our lenders could terminate their commitments to make further extensions

of credit under our credit facility If our indebtedness is accelerated we cannot be certain that we will have sufficient funds to

pay the accelerated indebtedness or that we will have the ability to refinance accelerated indebtedness on terms favorable to

us or at all

Ineffective internal controls over financial reporting may harm our business in the future

We are subject to the ongoing internal control provisions of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 the Act Our

controls necessary for continued compliance with the Act may not operate effectively at all times and may result in material

weakness The identification of material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting if any could indicate lack of

proper controls to generate accurate financial statements Further our internal control effectiveness may be impacted if we are

unable to retain sufficient skilled finance and accounting personnel especially in light of the increased demand for such

personnel among publicly traded companies

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

As of February 23 2009 we had manufacturing facilities administrative research and development and sales offices in the

foflowing locations

Manufacturing Facilities Square Footage Owned/Leased Segment

Albuquerque New Mexico 91000 Leased Components and Sensors

Ayutthya Thailand 40000 Owned EMS

Elkhart Indiana 319000 Owned Components and Sensors

Glasgow Scotland 75000 Owned Components and Sensors and EMS

Glasgow Scotland 37000 Leased Components and Sensors and EMS

Kaohsiung Taiwan 133000 Owned2 Components and Sensors

Londonderry New Hampshire 73000 Leased EMS

Matamoros Mexico 51000 Owned Components and Sensors and EMS

Moorpark California 115500 Leased EMS

Nogales Mexico 67000 Leased Components and Sensors

Ostrava Czech Republic 60000 Leased Components and Sensors

San Jose California 78800 Leased EMS

Singapore 159000 Owned3 Components and Sensors and EMS

Streetsville Ontario Canada 112000 Owned Components and Sensors

Tianjin China 225000 Owned4 Components and Sensors and EMS

Tucson Arizona 48000 Owned Components and Sensors

Zhongshan China 72400 Leased Components and Sensors

Total manufacturing 1756700

The land and building are collateral for credit facility

Ground lease through 2017 restrictions on use and transfer apply

Ground lease through 2039 restrictions on use and transfer apply

Land Use Rights Agreement through 2050 includes transfer lease and mortgage rights
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Non-Manufacturing Square

Facilities Footage Owned/Leased Description Segment

Berne Indiana 249000 Owned Leased to tenant Components and Sensors

Bloomingdale Illinois 110000 Leased Administrative offices and research Components and Sensors

Brownsville Texas 85000 Owned Idle
facility/partially

sublet Components and Sensors

Burbank California 9200 Owned Idle
facility Components and Sensors

Burbank California 2900 Leased Idle
facility Components and Sensors

Elkhart Indiana 93000 Owned Administrative offices and research Components and Sensors and EMS

Kowloon Hong Kong 800 Leased Sales office Components and Sensors

Nagoya Japan 800 Leased Sales office Components and Sensors

Poway California 45000 Leased Sublet to tenant EMS

Sandwich Illinois 94000 Owned Idle facility Components and Sensors

Shanghai China 1700 Leased Sales office Components and Sensors

Southfield Michigan 1700 Leased Sales office Components and Sensors

Taipei Taiwan 1400 Leased Sales office Components and Sensors

Yokohama Japan 1400 Leased Sales office Components and Sensors

Total non-manufacturing 695900

We regularly assess the adequacy of our manufacturing facilities for manufacturing capacity available labor and location to

our markets and major customers Management believes our manufacturing facilities are suitable and adequate and have

sufficient capacity to meet our current needs The extent of utilization varies from plant to plant and with general economic

conditions We also review the operating costs of our facilities and may from time-to-time relocate or move portion of our

manufacturing activities in order to reduce operating costs and improve asset utilization and cash flow

Item Legal Proceedings

Certain processes in the manufacture of our current and past products create hazardous waste by-products as currently

defined by federal and state laws and regulations We have been notified by the U.S Environmental Protection Agency state

environmental agencies and in some cases generator groups that we are or may be potentially responsible party regarding

hazardous waste remediation at several non-CTS sites In addition to these non-CTS sites we have an ongoing practice of

providing reserves for probable remediation activities at certain of our manufacturing locations and for claims and proceedings

against us with respect to other environmental matters In the opinion of management based upon presently available

information relating to all such matters either adequate provision for probable costs has been made or the ultimate costs

resulting will not materially affect our consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

Certain claims are pending against us with respect to matters arising out of the ordinary conduct of our business For all

claims in the opinion of management based upon presently available information either adequate provision for anticipated

costs has been accrued or the ultimate anticipated costs will not materially affect our consolidated financial position results of

operations or cash flows

During 2007 we were informed that the SEC is conducting an informal inquiry relating to the 2006 accounting misstatements of

our Moorpark and Santa Clara California manufacturing facilities We are in full cooperation with the SEC in its inquiry

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

During the fourth quarter of 2008 no matter was submitted to vote of our security holders
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

CTS common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CTS On February 20 2009 there were

approximately 1552 common shareholders of record

Our current practice is to pay quarterly dividends at the rate of $0.03 per share or an annual rate of $0.12 per share The

declaration of dividend and the amount of any such dividend is subject to earnings anticipated working capital capital

expenditures other investment requirements the financial condition of CTS and any other factors considered relevant by the

Board of Directors

Per Share Data

na udited

Dividends Net Earnings

High Low Declared Basic Diluted

2008

41h quarter $12.18 4.53 $003 $0.11 $0.16

quarter 13.81 9.96 0.03 0.23 0.21

quarter 11.51 10.00 0.03 0.30 0.27

quarter 10.80 9.01 0.03 0.20 0.18

2007

4th quarter $13.84 9.87 $0.03 $0.22 $0.20

3rd quarter 13.90 12.11 0.03 0.22 0.20

quarter 13.98 11.74 0.03 0.16 0.15

1st quarter 16.33 12.58 0.03 0.11 0.11

The market prices of CTS common stock presented reflect the highest and lowest closing prices on the New York Stock Exchange for each quarter of the

last two years

The following table summarizes the repurchase of CTS common stock made by the Company during the three months ended

December 31 2008

Total Average Total number Maximum number of

number of price of shares shares that may yet be

shares paid per purchased as part of purchased under the

purchased share plans or program plans or programs

977500

September 29 2008October 26 2008 977500

October 27 2008November 23 2008 977500

November 24 2008December 31 2008 977500

In May 2008 CTS Board of Directors authorized program to repurchase up to one million shares of its common stock in the open market The

authorization does not expire
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Item Selected Financial Data

Five-Year Summary

In thousands of dollars except per share and other data

hot hot hot %oI %of

2008 Sales 2007 Sales 2006 Sales 2005 Sales 2004 Sales

Summary of Operations

Net sales 691.707 100.0 685945 100.0 655614 100.0 617484 100.0 531316 100.0

Cost of goods sold 554634 80.2 553253 80.7 534784 81.6 497270 80.5 421560 79.3

Selling general and administrative expenses 78974 11.4 78957 11.5 67720 10.3 64812 10.5 61174 11.5

Research and development expenses 18.306 2.6 15896 2.3 15873 2.4 17092 2.8 19063 3.6

Amortization of intangible assets 3615 0.5 3121 0.5 3193 0.5 3443 0.6 2311 0.4

Gain/loss on asset sales 219 0.1 42 0.1 2142 0.3 3065 0.5 3920 0.7

Restructuring and impairment charges 5567 08 2401 0.4 3368 0.5

Operating earnings 30830 4.5 32275 4.7 32818 5.0 37932 6.1 31128 5.9

Other expense k/income net 1535 0.2 200 0.1 2152 0.3 4936 0.8 5211 1.0

Earnings before income taxes 29295 4.2 32475 4.7 30666 4.7 32996 5.3 25917 4.9

Income tax benefit/expense 591 0.1 7063 1.0 6469 1.0 12240 2.0 5961 1.1

Net earnings 29886 4.3 25412 3.7 24197 3.7 20756 3.3 19956 3.8

Retained earnings beginning of Year 336548 315370 295478 279064 263430

Dividends declared 4.043 4234 4305 4342 4322

Retained earnings end of year 362391 336548 315370 295478 279064

Net earnings per share

Basic 0.89 0.72 0.68 0.57 0.56

Diluted 0.81 0.66 0.63 0.53 0.53

Average basic shares outstanding 000s 33128 35498 35826 36307 35910

Average diluted shares outstanding 000s 31864 39970 40228 40960 38893

Cash dividends per share 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12

Capital expenditures 11647 16058 15787 15009 12111

Depreciation and amortization 24170 22818 24896 27059 26082

Financial Position at Year End

Current assets 225842 250840 227620 179716 204146

Current liabilities 113241 128919 125681 121323 102961

Current ratio 2.0 to 1.9 to 1.8 to 1.5 to 2.0 to

Working capital 112601 121921 101939 58393 101185

Inventories net 10867 73718 60543 60629 42734

Net property plant and equipment 90156 92825 96468 109653 112495

Total assets 488455 543692 527833 533829 522171

Short-term notes payable 1000 5425 13299 3311

Long-term debt 80500 72000 60821 68457 94150

Long-term obligations including long-term Debt 98036 90526 83315 84577 105669

Shareholders equity 217178 324247 319023 328093 310704

Common shares outstanding 000s 33711 34313 35823 35859 35909

Equity book value per share 8.22 9.45 8.91 9.16 8.65

Stock price range $13.81-4.53 $16.33-9.87 $16.23-11.06 $14.10-10.13 $15.85-9.90

Excludes amortization of intangible assets

Certain acquisitions divestitures closures of operations or product lines and certain accounting reclassifications affect the

comparability of information contained in the Five-Year Summary

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Information about results of operations liquidity and capital resources for the three previous years is contained in

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 2006-2008 included in the 2008

Annual Report and incorporated herein by reference

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our cash flows and earnings are subject to fluctuations resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest

rates We manage our exposure to these market risks through internally established policies and procedures and when deemed

appropriate through the use of derivative financial instruments Our policies do not allow speculation in derivative instruments

for profit or execution of derivative instrument contracts for which there are no underlying exposures We do not use financial

instruments for trading purposes and we are not party to any leveraged derivatives We monitor our underlying market risk

exposures on an ongoing basis and believe that we can modify or adapt our hedging strategies as needed
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Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to the changes in interest rates on our floating rate revolving credit facility At December 31 2008 and 2007

there was $48.0 million and $12.0 million respectively outstanding under this facility As of December 31 2008 and 2007 we did

not have any outstanding interest rate swap or cap agreements See Note Debt to our consolidated financial statements

for components of our long-term debt

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risks Our significant foreign subsidiaries are located in Canada China Czech

Republic Scotland Singapore Taiwan and Thailand We have netting policy where subsidiaries pay all intercompany balances

within sixty days As of December 31 2008 we did not have any outstanding foreign currency forward exchange contracts

In the normal course of business our financial position is routinely subjected to variety of risks including market risks

associated with interest rate movements currency rate movements on non-U.S dollar denominated assets and liabilities and

collectibility of accounts receivable

Commodity Price Risk

Many of our products require the use of raw materials that are produced in only limited number of regions around the world

or are available from only limited number of suppliers Our results of operations may be materially and adversely affected if

we have difficulty obtaining these raw materials the quality of available raw materials deteriorates or there are significant

price increases for these raw materials For periods in which the prices of these raw materials are rising we may be unable to

pass on the increased cost to our customers which would result in decreased margins for the products in which they are used

For periods in which the prices are declining we may be required to write down our inventory carrying cost of these raw

materials since we record our inventory at the lower of cost or market

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated financial statements meeting the requirements of Regulation S-X and the Report of our Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm appear in the financial statements and supplementary financial data as noted in the Index appearing

under Item 15 a1 and and are included in the 2008 Annual Report and incorporated herein by reference

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Pursuant to Rule 13a-15e of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 management under the direction of our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures Based on such evaluation our Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of

December 31 2008 provided that the evaluation did not include an evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over

financial reporting for the acquired business as described further below

In January 2008 we acquired Tusonix Inc which has facilities in Tucson Arizona and Nogales Mexico Each facility reports

financial results that are included in this report for the year ended December 31 2008 Management has not made an

assessment of the Tusonix business internal control over financial reporting since the date of acquisition The Tusonix business

assets and liabilities acquired were $14.8 million and $2.3 million respectively and the sales included in CTS 2008 financial

statements were approximately $14.0 million The Tusonix business was not included in our evaluation of the effectiveness of

disclosure controls and procedures

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting for the quarter ended December 31 2008 that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Executive Officers The individuals in the following list were elected as executive officers of CTS at the annual meeting of the

Board of Directors on May 30 2008 They are expected to serve as executive officers until the next annual meeting of the

Board of Directors scheduled to be held on or about May 27 2009 at which time the election of officers will be considered

again by the Board of Directors

Name Age Positions and Offices

Vinod Khilnani 56 President and Chief Executive Officer

Donald Schroeder 60 Executive Vice President and General Manager of CTS

Electronic Components

Donna Belusar 48 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Tyler Buchanan 56 Senior Vice President retired

James Cummins 53 Senior Vice President Administration

Bret Robertson 49 Senior Vice President and General Manager of Electronic

Manufacturing Services

Richard Cutter Ill 62 Vice President Secretary and General Counsel

Thomas Kroll 54 Vice President and Controller

Matthew Long 47 Treasurer

Mohan Mahadevan 48 Vice President

Vinod Khilnani 56 President and Chief Executive Officer was elected President and Chief Executive Officer on July

2007 Prior to accepting this position Mr Khilnani held the position of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since

2001

Donald Schroeder 60 Executive Vice President and General Manager of CTS Electronic Components was named

Executive Vice President and General Manager of CTS Electronic Components on January 2009 Prior to this Mr Schroeder

served as Executive Vice President and President of CTS Electronics Manufacturing Services from February 2005 From

December 2000 to February 2005 Mr Schroeder served as Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer He has held

positions of increasing responsibility with CTS since 1972

Donna Belusar 48 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer joined CTS and was elected Senior Vice

President Chief Financial Officer on January 21 2008 Prior to joining CTS Ms Belusar was Executive Vice President of

Finance Global Financing Division of IBM Corporation developer and manufacturer of information technologies such as

computer systems software networking systems storage devices and microelectronics During her tenure at IBM Ms Belusar

held positions of increasing responsibility from 1982 until joining CTS

Tyler Buchanan56Senior Vice Presidentwas elected Senior Vice President effective December 31 2001 Prior to

this Mr Buchanan was Vice President and Vice President and General Manager CTS Automotive Products He has held

positions of increasing responsibility with CTS since 1977 Mr Buchanan retired from CTS on December 31 2008

James Cummins 53 Senior Vice President Administration was elected Senior Vice President Administration effective

December 31 2001 Prior to this Mr Cummins was Vice President Human Resources since 1994 He has had positions of

increasing responsibility with CTS since 1977

Bret Robertson 49 Senior Vice President and General Manager of CTS Electronics Manufacturing Services was

elected Senior Vice President of CTS Electronics Manufacturing Services effective January 2009 Prior to this Mr Robertson

held positions of increasing responsibility with CTS since 2002

Richard Cutter 62 Vice President Secretary and General Counsel was elected Vice President Secretary and General

Counsel effective December 31 2001 Prior to this Mr Cutter was Vice President Assistant Secretary and General Counsel

Thomas Kroll 54Vice President and Controllerwas elected Vice President and Controller on October 31 2002 Prior

to this Mr Kroll served as Controller Group Accounting since joining CTS in November 2000

Matthew Long 47 Treasurer was elected Treasurer effective May 2003 From December 2000 through May 2003

Mr Long served as Assistant Treasurer
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Mohan Mahadevan 48 Vice President was elected Vice President of CTS Corporation effective February 2008

Prior to joining CTS Mr Mahadevan worked for EMC Corporation as the Six Sigma Program Management Director and for

Textron Inc where he held several positions of importance

Information with respect to Directors and Corporate Governance may be found in our definitive proxy statement to be delivered

to shareholders in connection with our 2009 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders Such information is incorporated by

reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information with respect to this item may be found in our definitive proxy statement to be delivered to shareholders in

connection with our 2009 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders Such information is incorporated by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

Information with respect to this item may be found in our definitive proxy statement to be delivered to shareholders in

connection with our 2009 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders Such information is incorporated by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information with respect to this item may be found in our definitive proxy statement to be delivered to shareholders in

connection with our 2009 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders Such information is incorporated by reference

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information with respect to this item may be found in our definitive proxy statement to be delivered to shareholders in

connection with our 2009 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders Such information is incorporated by reference

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statements Schedules

The list of financial statements and schedules required by Item 15 and is contained on page S-i herein

Exhibits

All references to documents filed pursuant to the Securities Global Exchange Act of 1934 including Forms 10-K 10-Q and 8-K

were filed by CTS Corporation File No 1-4639

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit to our Current Report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 1998

ii Amended and Restated Bylaws incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on September 1998

10 Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 12 2008

10 CTS Corporation 1988 Restricted Stock and Cash Bonus Plan approved by the shareholders on April 28 1989 as

amended and restated on May 1997 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10e to the Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 29 1997 filed with the SEC on August 12 1997

10 CTS Corporation 1996 Stock Option Plan approved by the shareholders on April 26 1996 as amended and restated on

May 1997 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10f to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

June 29 1997 filed with the SEC on August 12 1997

10 CTS Corporation 2001 Stock Option Plan approved by the shareholders on March 2001 incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10c to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 2001 filed with the SEC on

April 27 2001

10 CTS Corporation Stock Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective April 30 1990 as amended incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10a to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30 2003 filed with

the SEC on April 23 2003

10 Amendment to the CTS Corporation Stock Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors dated as of December 2004

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10j to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2004

filed with the SEC on March 2005
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10 CTS Corporation Pension Plan formerly known as the CTS Corporation Salaried Employees Pension Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10t to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2002

filed with the SEC on February 14 2003

10 Amendments to the CTS Corporation Pension Plan formerly known as the CTS Corporation Salaried Employees
Pension Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10b to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

June 29 2003 filed with the SEC on July 25 2003

10 Purchase Agreement dated May 2004 by and between CTS Corporation and Bear Stearns Co Inc as Initial

Purchaser incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 1.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 18 2004 filed

with the SEC on May 19 2004

10 Indenture dated as of May 11 2004 by and between CTS Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank N.A as Trustee

incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 1.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 19 2004

10 CTS Corporation 2004 Omnibus Long-term Incentive Plan and Incentive Stock Option Agreement incorporated by

reference to the Exhibit 10a to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 26 2004 filed

with the SEC on October 19 2004

10 Employment Agreement effective as of July 2007 between the Company and Vinod Khilnani incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10a to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 15 2007

10 Prototype Named Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a to the

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 2006 filed with the SEC on July 27 2006.

10 CTS Corporation 2001 Stock Option Plan Employee Stock Option Agreement dated October 2001 as amended

December 15 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10dd to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC

on February 27 2006

10 Prototype Executive Officer RSU Supplemental Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a to the Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 2006 filed with the SEC on July 27 2006

10 Amendments to the CTS Corporation Pension Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10q to the Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2005 filed with the SEC on February 27 2006

10 Amendments to the CTS Corporation Pension Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a to the Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 2006 filed with the SEC on April 26 2006

10 Credit Agreement dated as of June 27 2006 by and among CTS Corporation the Lenders named therein and Harris

Trust and Savings Bank as L/C Issuer and Administrative Agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a to the

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 29 2006

10 First Amendment and Waiver to Credit Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a to the Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 16 2007

10 Amendment No to the CTS Corporation 2004 Omnibus Long-term Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10aa to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on May 15 2007

10 Prototype Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10aa to the

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2005 filed with the SEC on February 27 2006

10 CTS Corporation Management Incentive Plan approved by the shareholders on June 28 2007 incorporated by

reference to Appendix to the Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed with the SEC on

May 24 2007

10 Performance Share Agreement between CTS Corporation and Vinod Khiinani dated August 2007 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10a to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2007 filed with

the SEC on October 24 2007

10 Prototype Individual Excess Benefit Retirement Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10d to the Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2007 filed with the SEC on October 24 2007

10 Prototype Change in Control Agreement first reported on Current Report Form 8-K on December 2007 and attached

herewith incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 hh to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on

February 28 2008

10 Amendment to Employment Agreement between CTS Corporation and Mr Khilnani dated December 2007 as

attached herewith incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10u to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on

February 28 2008

10 aa 20082009 Performance Restricted Stock Unit Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a to the Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30 2008 filed with the SEC on April 30 2008

10 bb Amendments to the CTS Corporation Pension Plan formerly known as the CTS Corporation Salaried Employees
Pension Plan
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10 cc CTS Corporation Amended and Restated 2008 2009 Performance Restricted Stock Unit Plan

13 Portions of the 2008 Annual Report to shareholders incorporated herein

21 Subsidiaries

23 Consent of Grant Thornton LLR

31 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CTS Corporation

Date February 23 2009 By /s/ Donna Belusar

Donna Belusar

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has

been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the

capacities and on the dates indicated

Date February 23 2009 By Is Vinod Khilnani

Vinod Khilnani

President and Chief Executive

Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Date February 23 2009 By /s/ Roijer Hemminqhaus

Roger Hemminghaus

Chairman of the Board

Date February 23 2009 By /s/ Walter Cat/ow

Walter Catlow

Director

Date February 23 2009 By /s/ Lawrence Ciancia

Lawrence Ciancia

Director

Date February 23 2009 By /s/ Thomas Cody

Thomas Cody

Director

Date February 23 2009 By Is Gerald Frie/ing Jr

Gerald Frieling Jr

Director

Date February 23 2009 By Is Michael Henning

Michael Henning

Director

Date February 23 2009 By /s/ Robert Profusek

Robert Profusek

Director
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Date February 23 2009 By Is Patricia Co/lawn

Patricia Collawn

Director

Date February 23 2009 By Is Donna Belusar

Donna Belusar

Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Date February 23 2009 By Is Thomas Kro/I

Thomas Kroll

Vice President and Controller

Principal Accounting Officer
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FORM 10-K ITEM 15 AND AND ITEM 15

CTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

The following consolidated financial statements of CTS Corporation and subsidiaries included in the 2008 Annual Report are

referenced in Part II Item filed herewith as Exhibit 13 and incorporated herein by reference

Consolidated Statements of Earnings Years ended December 31 2008 December 31 2007 and December 31 2006

Consolidated Balance Sheets December 31 2008 and December 31 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Years ended December 31 2008 December 31 2007 and December 31 2006

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity Years ended December 31 2008 December 31 2007 and

December 31 2006

Notes to consolidated financial statements

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange

Commission have been omitted because they are not applicable not required or the information is included in the consolidated

financial statements or notes thereto
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Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

CTS management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such

term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15f Under the supervision and with the participation of management including CTS

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer CTS conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission

In January 2008 CTS acquired Tusonix Inc which has facilities in Tucson Arizona and Nogales Mexico Each facility reports

financial results that are included in this report for the year ended December 31 2008 CTS management has not made an

assessment of the Tusonix business internal control over financial reporting since the date of acquisition The Tusonix business

assets and liabilities acquired were $14.8 million and $2.3 million respectively and the sales included in CTS 2008 financial

statements were approximately $14.0 million The Tusonix business was not included in CTS evaluation of the effectiveness of

disclosure controls and procedures

In its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 management

determined that its internal control over financial reporting excluding the Tusonix business described above was effective as

of December 31 2008

CTS Corporation

Elkhart Indiana

February 23 2009

Is Vinod Khllnani Is Donna Belusar

Vinod Khilnani Donna Belusar

President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

S2 CTS CORPORATION



EXHIBIT 1Obb
Second Amendment

to the CTS Corporation Pension Plan

Amended and Restated Effective May 2006

and dated February 2005

Whereas CTS Corporation the Company maintains the CTS Corporation Pension Plan the Merged Plan for the benefit of

its eligible employees

Whereas the Merged Plan has been amended and restated effective May 2006 and most recently dated February 2005

Whereas under section 9.1 of the Merged Plan the Company reserves the right to amend modify suspend or terminate the

Merged Plan at any time by resolution of the Board of Directors and

Whereas the Electromechanical Division of the Company maintains the CTS Corporation Retirement Plan as adopted by the

Electromechanical Division the Electromechanical Division Plan as amended and restated effective March 2005 and most

recently dated February 2005

Whereas the Company maintains the CTS Corporation Retirement Plan the Corporate Plan as amended and restated

effective March 2005 and most recently dated February 2005

Whereas effective December 31 2008 the Company will merge the Electromechanical Division Plan and the Corporate Plan

into the Merged Plan

Whereas the assets and liabilities of the Electromechanical Division Plan and the Corporate Plan will be transferred to the

Merged Plan on or about December 31 2008

Whereas under section 9.1 of the Merged Plan the Company reserves the right to amend modify suspend or terminate the

Merged Plan at any time by resolution of the Board of Directors and

Whereas the Company desires to amend the Merged Plan to reflect the merger and make an amendment to bring the Merged

Plan into documentary compliance

Now therefore the Merged Plan is amended as follows effective December 31 2008 unless otherwise provided

Effective as of December 31 2008 Appendix to the Merged Plan shall be established and shall consist of the pre-merger

Electromechanical Plan document as amended and restated effective March 2005 and most recently dated February

2005 and shall represent complete set of provisions applicable to employees and participants to which Appendix applies

Effective as of December 31 2008 Appendix to the Merged Plan shall be established and shall consist of the pre-merger

Corporate Plan document as amended and restated effective March 2005 and most recently dated February 2005 and

shall represent complete set of provisions applicable to employees and participants to which Appendix applies

Section 1.1 of the Merged Plan is amended in its entirety as follows

1.1 Establishment of the Plan

On August 13 1957 CTS Corporation established pension plan and as may be amended from time to time was

known as the CTS Corporation Salaried Employees Pension Plan hereinafter referred to as the Plan

The Company through its Resistor Network Division also maintains the CTS Corporation Retirement Plan as

adopted by the Resistor Network Division the Resistor Network Division Plan The Company through its

Asheville Division Electromechanical Group further maintains the CTS Corporation Retirement Plan as adopted

by the Asheville Division Electromechanical Group the Asheville Division Plan The Resistor Network

Division Plan and the Asheville Division Plan was merged into the Plan as of December 31 2002 The assets and

liabilities of the Resistor Network Division Plan and the Asheville Division Plan were merged into this Plan at

such time The post-merger surviving plan was renamed the CTS Corporation Pension Plan the Plan effective

December 31 2002 and applies to certain salaried and hourly employees who satisfy the requirements for

participation

The Company through its Electromechanical Division also maintains the CTS Corporation Retirement Plan as

adopted by the Electromechanical Division the Electromechanical Division Plan The Company further

maintains the CTS Corporation Retirement Plan the Corporate Plan The Electromechanical Division Plan and

the Corporate Plan will be merged into this Plan as of December 31 2008 The assets and liabilities of the

Electromechanical Division Plan and the Corporate Plan will be merged into this Plan at such time The post

merger Plan applies to certain salaried and hourly employees who satisfy the requirements for participation
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Effective as of the 2008 merger the Merged Plan document shall contain new Appendix which shall be the prior

Electromechanical Division Plan document and shall represent complete set of provisions applicable to employees and

participants to which Appendix applies Also effective as of the merger the Merged Plan document shall contain new

Appendix which shall be the prior Corporate Plan document and shall represent complete set of provisions applicable to

employees and participants to which Appendix applies

Notwithstanding the foregoing the Merged Plan contained in this document and Appendix through is intended to be

single plan as such term is defined IRS regulation section 1.414l-lbl All of the assets of the Merged Plan shall be

available to provide benefits under the Merged Plan In the discretion of the Administrator separate accounting may be

maintained for various divisions of the Company participating in the Merged Plan for purposes of cost allocation but separate

accounting shall not be maintained for purposes of providing benefit under the Merged Plan

Section 1.4 will be added to the Merged Plan as follows

1.4 Appendices to the Plan

Effective December 31 2002 the Plan document shall contain Appendix which shall consist of the prior plan

document for the Resistor Network Division Plan as amended and restated effective December 1994 and most

recently dated June 12 2002 Appendix shall represent complete set of provisions for employees and

participants to which the Appendix applies

Effective December 31 2002 the Plan document shall contain Appendix which shall consist of the prior plan

document for the Asheville Division Plan as amended and restated effective December 1994 and most recently

dated June 12 2002 Appendix shall represent complete set of provisions for employees and participants to

which the Appendix applies

Effective December 31 2008 the Plan document shall contain Appendix which shall consist of the prior plan

document for the Electromechanical Division Plan as amended and restated effective March 2005 and most

recently dated February 2005 Appendix shall represent complete set of provisions for employees and

participants to which the Appendix applies

Effective December 31 2008 the Plan document shall contain Appendix which shall consist of the prior plan

document for the Corporate Plan as amended and restated effective March 2005 and most recently dated

February 2005 Appendix shall represent complete set of provisions for employees and participants to

which the Appendix applies

Section 1.1 of Appendix to the Merged Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows

1.1 Establishment of the Plan

Effective July 1950 the Electromechanical Division of CTS Corporation the Employer established the CTS Corporation

Retirement Plan as adopted by the Electromechanical Division hereinafter referred to as the Electromechanical Division Plan

for the benefit of its hourly employees

The Electromechanical Division Plan was amended and restated effective December 1994 to reflect amendments required by

GUST the Uruguay Round Agreements Act Pub 103-465 the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act

of 1994 Pub 103-353 the Small Business Job Protection Act of 1996 Pub 104-188 the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 Pub

105-34 the Internal Revenue Service Restructuring and Reform Act of 1998 Pub 105-206 the Community Renewal Tax Relief

Act of 2000 Pub 106-554 and other changes deemed necessary by the Employer Certain amendments adopted herein with

effective dates of January 2002 and thereafter reflect provisions of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act

of 2001 EGTRRA The amendments for EGTRRA are intended as good faith compliance with the requirements of EGTRRA and

are to be construed in accordance with EGTRRA and guidance issued thereunder

The Company also maintains the CIS Corporation Pension Plan Effective as of December 31 2008 the Electromechanical

Division Plan shall be merged into the CTS Corporation Pension Plan and the assets and liabilities of the Electromechanical

Division Plan will be merged into the CTS Corporation Pension Plan The provisions of the post-merger Plan that apply to

employees of the Electromechanical Division of CTS Corporation are within this Plan document which shall be Appendix to

the post-merger Merged Plan effective December 31 2008
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Section 1.1 of Appendix to the Merged Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows

1.1 Establishment of the Plan

On August 16 1950 CTS Corporation the Employer established the CTS Corporation Retirement Plan the Corporate Plan

which Corporate Plan has been amended and restated from time to time

The Corporate Plan was amended and restated effective December 1994 to reflect amendments required by GUST the

Uruguay Round Agreements Act Pub 103-465 the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994

Pub 103-353 the Small Business Job Protection Act of 1996 Pub 104-188 the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 Pub 105-34

the Internal Revenue Service Restructuring and Reform Act of 1998 Pub 105-206 the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of

2000 Pub 106-554 and other changes deemed necessary by the Employer Certain amendments adopted herein with

effective dates of January 12002 and thereafter reflect provisions of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of

2001 EGTRRA The amendments for EGTRRA are intended as good faith compliance with the requirements of EGTRRA and

are to be construed in accordance with EGTRRA and guidance issued thereunder

The Company also maintains the CTS Corporation Pension Plan Effective as of December 31 2008 the Plan shall be merged

into the CTS Corporation Pension Plan and the assets and liabilities of the Corporate Plan will be merged into the

CTS Corporation Pension Plan The provisions of the post-merger Plan that apply to employees covered by the Corporate Plan

are within this Plan document which shall be Appendix to the post-merger Merged Plan effective December 31 2008

Section 1g of each of Appendix Appendix Appendix and Appendix of the Merged Plan shall be amended to add

the following new subparagraph iii effective as of January 2004

iii In accordance with the Pension Funding Equity Act of 2004 PFEA and with Code Section 415b2Eii as in

effect prior to the Pension Protection Act of 2006 the interest rate of 5.5 percent shall be substituted for the

Applicable Interest Rate for Plan Years beginning in 2004 and 2005 in the case of payment form subject to the

minimum present value requirements of Code section 417e3 provided however that the transition rule of PFEA

Section 101 d3 and IRS Notice 2004-78 shall be applied For Plan Years beginning on or after January 2006 in the

case of payment form subject to the minimum present value requirements of Code section 417e3 the interest

rate used to the determine the equivalent straight life annuity shall be 5.5 percent or such higher interest rate as

described in Code section 415b2Eii

Section 7.5b of the Merged Plan is amended to add the following as new paragraph effective as of January 2004

Applicable Interest Rate Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary in accordance with the Pension

Funding Equity Act of 2004 TFEA and with Code Section 415b2Eii as in effect prior to the Pension

Protection Act of 2006 the interest rate of 5.5 percent shall be substituted for the Applicable Interest Rate for

Plan Years beginning in 2004 and 2005 in the case of payment form subject to the minimum present value

requirements of Code section 417e3 provided however that the transition rule of PFEA Section 101 dX3 and

IRS Notice 2004-78 shall be applied For Plan Years beginning on or after January 2006 in the case of

payment form subject to the minimum present value requirements of Code section 417e3 the interest rate used

to determine the equivalent straight life annuity shall be 5.5 percent or such higher interest rate as described in

Code section 415b2Eii

In Witness Whereof CTS Corporation has caused this Amendment to be signed on its behalf and attested by its duly authorized

officers this 23rd day of December 2008

CTS Corporation

/s/ Richard Cutter /s/ James Cummins

Name Richard Cutter Name James Cummins

Its Secretary Its Sr Vice President Administration

Corporate Seal
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EXHIBIT 1Occ
CTS Corporation

Amended and Restated 2008-2009

Performance Restricted Stock Unit Plan

SECTION SUMMARY AND INTERPRETATION The 2008-2009 Performance Restricted Stock Unit Plan the Plan is intended

to provide financial and performance incentives to executive officers and key employees through the use of Restricted Stock

Unit awards tied to specific performance incentives that management and the Board believe will be beneficial to the Company

and its shareholders over the long-term The CTS Corporation 2004 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan the 2004 Omnibus Long-

Term Incentive Plan is the governing document for the Plan Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the

meanings set forth in the 2004 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended The Plan is subject to the terms and conditions

of the 2004 Omnibus Long-term Incentive Plan In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Plan and the

2004 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan the 2004 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan will govern

SECTION PHILOSOPHY The Board of Directors believes that compensation of executive officers and key employees should

be partially at risk and variable based in part on the Companys performance against its peers in the marketplace as well as

the Companys performance against certain pre-established goals The Plan along with other compensation plans of the

Company is intended to focus the efforts of the Participants on achieving those objectives in order to help ensure the sustained

profitability and continual long-term growth of the Company The Plan is structured to provide Participants with Restricted Stock

Unit Awards based upon achievement of objectives that management and the Board believe are beneficial to the Company and

shareholders over the long term Therefore performance will be measured over two year performance period and

Restricted Stock Units under the Plan will be awarded and earned only after two year performance period

SECTION OBJECTIVES

To attract and retain highly qualified personnel

To motivate improved financial performance enhanced growth and shareholder value creation

To align the interests of executive officers and key employees of the Company with those of its shareholders

SECTION ADMINISTRATION The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors the Committee shall administer the

Plan The decision of the Committee shall be final as to the interpretation of the Plan or any rule procedure or action related

thereto

SECTION ELIGIBILITY Only the employees designated by the Committee the Participants are eligible to participate in the

Plan The Committee has determined that the Participants identified in Exhibit attached hereto and incorporated herein by

reference are Covered Employees under this Plan Awards to Covered Employees shall be subject to the provisions of

Section of the 2004 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan

To receive an Award under the Plan Participant must be an active full-time employee throughout the Performance Period as

defined in Section

SECTION DEFINITIONS

Award means grant of Restricted Stock Units

Performance Period means January 2008 through December 31 2009

Performance Goals means Two Year Sales Growth and Relative Total Stockholder Return

Two Year Sales Growth means the 2009 Corporate Sales divided by 2007 Corporate Sales resulting in the

expression of increase or decrease in Corporate Sales as percentage

Corporate Sales means the Companys Net Sales as stated in the Companys Consolidated Statement of Earnings for

the relevant fiscal year In determining Awards for Participants who are not Covered Employees Corporate Sales may

be adjusted for unusual conditions factors or events as determined by the Committee provided that no such

adjustment shall be made for any condition factor or event which was specifically included in the 2007 CTS Corpora

tion Business Plan or 2008 or 2009 CTS Corporation Business Plans as applicable

Total Stockholder Return means the appreciation in price of share of common stock plus reinvested dividends

paid in cash or other property between January 2008 and December 31 2009

Relative Total Stockholder Return means the total stockholder return of the Company between January 2008 and

December 31 2009 relative to the total stockholder return of Peer Group of 29 entities over that same period See

Exhibit for calculation
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Peer Group means benchmark group of 29 companies the names of which are attached hereto as Exhibit as

the same may be adjusted from time-to-time in accord with the Peer Group Adjustment Protocol Exhibit

RSU means Restricted Stock Unit to be settled upon vesting on the basis of one Share for each Restricted Stock

Unit

Target RSU Incentive means the number of RSUs assigned to each Participant as function of his or her position

for purposes of calculating Awards

Award Level means the multiplier which is applied in calculating an Award based on the level of achievement of

Performance Goal

Weight means the percentage of Target RSU Incentive allocated to each Performance Goal

SECTION PERFORMANCE GOALS AND CALCULATION OF AWARDS

The Target RSU Incentive for each Participant is set forth in the 2008-2009 Target RSU Incentive Statement provided to each

Participant

The settlement of an Award for any Participant may be as much as twice the Target RSU Incentive or as little as zero

depending upon achieved results After the 7% Sales Growth threshold is met Award Levels for the Two-Year Sales Growth

Performance Goal will be interpolated between established steps or levels There will be no interpolation of Awards for Sales

Growth between 0% and 7% Award Levels for the Relative Total Stockholder Return Performance Goal will not be interpolated

for performance achievement between any established steps or levels

The Performance Goals Weight and Award Levels for the Performance Period are as follows

Performance Goal No Two Year Sales Growth

Weight 40%

Two Year Sales Growth Achievement Award Level

Two Year Sales Growth less than 7% 0% No Award

Two Year Sales Growth greater than or equal to 7% but 50% 99% of Target Award

less than 15%

Two Year Sales Growth greater than or equal to 15% 100% 149% of Target Award

but less than 23%

Two Year Sales Growth greater than or equal to 23% 150% 199% of Target Award

but less than 31%

Two Year Sales Growth greater than or equal to 31% 200% of Target Award

Above the 7% threshold below which there will be no Award actual awards will be interpolated between established

sales growth measurements

Performance Goal No Relative Total Stockholder Return RTSR
Weight 60%

Relative Total Stockholder Return Award Level

RTSR less than 30% of Peer Group 0% No Award

RTSR better than or equal to 30% of Peer Group but less 50% of Target Award

than or equal to 50% of Peer Group

RTSR better than 50% of Peer Group but less than or 100% of Target Award

equal to 70% of Peer Group

RTSR better than 70% of Peer Group but less than or 150% of Target Award

equal to 90% of Peer Group

RTSR better than 90% of Peer Group 200% of Target Award

Awards will not be interpolated between established Award Levels

Example

Participant has Target RSU Incentive of 1000 shares

Goal

Results Two Year Sales Growth is 15%
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1000 Target RSU Incentive times 40% Weight times 100% Award Level equals 400 RSUs

Goal

ResultsRTSR is 51% of Peer Group

1000 Target RSU Incentive times 60% Weight times 100% Award Level equals 600 RSUs

Participant earns 1000 RSUs

The Committee may in its discretion adjust Participants payout of an Award downward after consideration of other business

factors including overall performance of the Company and the individual Participants contribution to Company performance

The Committee may adjust payout of an Award in its discretion to prevent the enlargement or dilution of the Award because

of extraordinary events or circumstances as determined by the Committee The Committee shall make no such adjustment with

respect to the Award of Covered Employee however if the effect of such adjustment would be to cause the related

compensation to fail to qualify as performance-based compensation within the meaning of Section 162m of the Code In no

event shall the reduction of any Participants potential Award have the effect of increasing an Award payout payable to

Covered Employee For purposes of Section 7b of the CTS Corporation 2004 Omnibus Long-term Incentive Plan Awards shall

constitute awards of Performance Shares and no Award to Covered Employee may result in the Covered Employee receiving

more than 125000 Shares for the Performance Period

SECTION APPROVAL AND PAYMENT OF AWARDS Participants must remain in continuous employ of the Company through

the end of the Performance Period in order to earn an Award Upon completion of Performance Period and on or before

March 15 2010 the Compensation Committee shall certify to what extent the Performance Goals for the Performance Period

were met and determine each Participants Award The date of such certification and determination shall be the Determination

Date The Committees certification shall be subject to completion of the annual audit and certification of results by the

Companys independent auditor Awards shall be made in the form of grant of Restricted Stock Units under the terms and

conditions of the form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit Restricted Stock Units granted under

the 2008- 2009 Performance Stock Unit Plan will vest on the Determination Date and shall be settled as soon as practicable

after the Determination Date subject to the exceptions set forth in Exhibit but in no event later than March 15 2010

SECTION NO CONTRACT The Plan is not and shall not be construed as an employment contract or as promise or

contract to pay Awards to Participants or their beneficiaries The Plan shall be approved by the Committee and may be

amended from time to time by the Committee without notice No Participant or beneficiary may sell assign transfer discount or

pledge as collateral for loan or otherwise anticipate any right to payment of an Award under this Plan

CTS CORPORATION
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EXHIBIT

Determining Relative Total Stockholder Return

For purposes
of calculating Relative Total Stockholder Return rounding shall be to the nearest tenth of percent with all

hundredths of percent equal to or greater than rounded up to the nearest tenth of percent

Company Return For the Performance Period the Companys Total Stockholder Return will be percentage amount

determined based on the average closing price of the Shares for the 20 business days immediately preceding the last

trading day of the Performance Period including aggregate dividends for the Performance Period compared to the

average closing price of the Shares for the 20 business days immediately preceding the first trading day of the

Performance Period

Peer Return For the Performance Period the Total Stockholder Return for each company in the Peer Group each

Peer will be percentage amount determined based on the closing stock price on the last trading day of the

Performance Period including aggregate dividends for the Performance Period and adjusted for stock splits compared

to the closing stock price on the first trading day of the Performance Period including aggregate dividends for the

Performance Period and adjusted for stock splits

Company Ranking For each Performance Period the Companys and each Peers Total Stockholder Return will be ranked

in decreasing order Relative Total Stockholder Return equals the percentile rank expressed as percentage of the

Companys Total Stockholder Return when compared to the rankings from lowest to highest of the Total Stockholder

Returns of the Peers comprising the Peer Group for the Performance Period
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EXHIBIT

Peer Group 29 Peers

NAME SYMBOL STOCK EXCHANGE

ArvinMeritor Inc ARM New York Stock Exchange

AVX Corporation AVX New York Stock Exchange

Benchmark Electronics Inc BHE New York Stock Exchange

BorgWarner Inc BWA New York Stock Exchange

Celestica Inc CLS New York Stock Exchange

EPCOS AG EPC New York Stock Exchange

Flextronics International Ltd FLEX Nasdaq Global Select Market

Frequency Electronics Inc FEIM Nasdaq Global Market

Gentex Corporation GNTX Nasdaq Global Select Market

Jabil Circuit Inc JBL New York Stock Exchange

KEMET Corporation KEM New York Stock Exchange

Key Ironic Corporation KTCC Nasdaq Global Market

Kimball International Inc KBALB Nasdaq Global Select Market

LaBarge Inc LB American Stock Exchange

Lear Corporation LEA New York Stock Exchange

LittelFuse Inc LFUS Nasdaq Global Select Market

Methode Electronics Inc METH Nasdaq Global Select Market

Molex Incorporated MOLX Nasdaq Global Select Market

Plexus Corp PLXS Nasdaq Global Select Market

RF Micro Devices Inc RFMD Nasdaq Global Select Market

Sanmina-Sci Corporation SANM Nasdaq Global Select Market

Sparton Corporation SPA New York Stock Exchange

Spectrum Control Inc SPEC Nasdaq Global Market

Stoneridge Inc SRI New York Stock Exchange

Sypris Solutions Inc SYPR Nasdaq Global Market

Technitrol Inc TNL New York Stock Exchange

Triquint Semiconductors Inc TQNT Nasdaq Global Select Market

Vishay Intertechnology Inc VSH New York Stock Exchange

Williams Controls Inc WMCO Nasdaq Global Market
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EXHIBIT

Peer Group Adjustment Protocol

If as of the last date of the Performance Period all of the common equity of any Peer has been delisted from the stock

exchange on which any of its common equity was listed as of the date of this Agreement and all such common equity or the

common equity of successor to all or substantially all of the business of such Peer has not been within 30 days of such

delisting subsequently listed on any of the New York Stock Exchange the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC the London Stock

Exchange or the American Stock Exchange then

such Peer will be removed from the Peer Group for purposes of the Performance Period and

the Relative Total Stockholder Return for the Performance Period will be calculated as if such Peer had never been

member of the Peer Group

For purposes
of this Agreement Peer includes any successor to all or substantially all of the business of an entity as set forth

on Exhibit whether or not the same legal entity at end of the Performance Period

If company files for bankruptcy or is operating under bankruptcy protection it clearly shows bad performance and will

therefore stay in the Peer Group as bottom performer
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EXHIBIT 13

Overview

CTS Corporation we our us is global manufacturer

of components and sensors used primarily in the automotive

communications and computer markets We also provide

electronic manufacturing services including design and sup

ply chain management functions primarily serving the com

munications computer industrial medical and defense and

aerospace markets under contract arrangements with origi

nal equipment manufacturers OEMs

In the first quarter of 2008 we acquired with cash 100% of

the outstanding capital stock of Tusonix Inc Tusonix and

Orion Manufacturing Inc Orion for $21.1 million net of

$1.3 million cash received Tusonix based in Tucson Arizona

is leader in the design and manufacture of ceramic

electromagnetic interference and radio frequency interfer

ence EMI/RFI filters Orion based in San Jose California

is contract electronics manufacturer

Total sales in 2008 of $691.7 million were reported through

two segments Electronics Manufacturing Services EMS
and Components and Sensors which represented 57.7% and

42.3% of total sales in 2008 respectively In 2007 EMS

contributed 59.1% of total sales while Components and

Sensors contributed 40.9% of total sales

In 2008 we experienced modest year-over-year sales

increase and improved net earnings from 2007 despite the

global economic and credit crisis Revenue trends in the

third and fourth quarters of 2008 were down relative to the

same quarters of 2007 We expect these trends to continue

at least through the first half of 2009 During 2008 we

continued to focus on three key priorities improving

profitability concurrently with growing sales diversification

of our customer base and markets and new product

introductions and design wins to drive future revenue

growth As result we continued to see growth in certain

of our existing served markets as well as new business

awards from existing and new customers

We also proactively implemented several actions during 2008

to mitigate the unfavorable second half sales trend includ

ing tighter control of working capital including accounts

receivable inventory and accounts payable restructuring

actions in the third and fourth quarter 2008 including the

transfer and consolidation of certain operations to further

improve our cost structure reduction of global headcount by

10% and write-off of certain leasehold improvements and

limiting all discretionary spending

As discussed in more detail throughout the MDA

Revenues increased 0.8% in 2008 compared to 2007

despite the economic downturn that began to impact

us negatively in the third quarter of 2008 Sales in the

Components and Sensors segment increased by

4.3% primarily driven by acquisition of Tusonix and

improved piezoelectric product sales Sales in the

EMS segment decreased by 1.6% attributable prima

rily to lower expected sales in the computer market

due to certain products going end-of-life EOL
partially offset by higher sales into defense and

aerospace and communications markets including

the positive impact of the recent Orion acquisition

Gross margins in 2008 increased $4.4 million from

2007 primarily due to the contribution from higher

sales volume and improved operational efficiencies in

both segments Gross margins as percent of sales

were 19.8% in 2008 compared to 19.3% in 2007

Within the EMS segment margins were favorably

impacted by improved product mix as we continue to

increase focus on sales into the higher margin target

markets of defense and aerospace industrial and

medical Within the Components and Sensors seg

ment unfavorable absorption of fixed costs and lower

royalty income negatively impacted margins partially

offset by favorable product mix

Selling general and administrative SGA and

research and development RD expenses in

creased as percent of sales to 14.6% in 2008 from

14.3% in 2007 The increase was driven by incremen

tal expenses to support higher sales in the Compo

nents and Sensors segment and research and

development spending devoted to the development

and launch of new commercial market growth

initiatives

Operating earnings in 2008 decreased slightly to

$30.8 million or 4.5% of sales from $32.3 million or

4.7% of sales in 2007 primarily due to higher restruc

turing and restructuring-related and RD expenses

partially offset by improved gross margins Included

in operating earnings were $6.1 million and $2.6 million

of restructuring and restructuring-related costs for

the years ended December 31 2008 and December 31

2007 respectively

In 2008 our effective tax rate was 2.02% compared

to 21.75% in 2007 Interest and other expense in 2008

was $1.5 million versus interest and other income of

$0.2 million in 2007

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2006-2008
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Net earnings increased to $29.9 million in 2008 from

$25.4 million in 2007 Diluted earnings per share were

$0.81 in 2008 and $0.66 in 2007 The 2008 diluted

earnings per share included $0.10 of restructuring

and related charges and tax benefit of $0.14 The

2007 diluted earnings per share included $0.05 of

restructuring and related charges

Critical Accounting Policies

Our MDA is based on our consolidated financial statements

that have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States The

preparation of these financial statements requires manage
ment to make estimates and judgments that affect the

reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and ex

penses and the related disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis

based on historical experience and other assumptions be

lieved to be relevant under the circumstances Actual results

may differ perhaps materially from the estimates under

different assumptions or conditions

Our served markets are characterized by rapid technological

change and frequent new product introductions and en
hancements These characteristics along with global eco

nomic conditions are risks that require management

judgment when determining appropriate accounting deci

sions Management believes that judgment and estimates

related to the following critical accounting policies could

materially affect our consolidated financial statements

Estimating inventory valuation reserves the allowance for

doubtful accounts and other accrued liabilities

Management makes estimates of the carrying value of our

inventory based upon historical usage new product intro

ductions and projected customer purchase levels The ever-

changing technology environment of the served markets

affects these estimates Similarly management makes esti

mates of the collectability of our accounts receivable and

analyzes historical bad debts customer concentrations cus

tomer credit worthiness and current economic trends when

evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful ac
counts Finally we are involved in litigation in the normal

course of business and are regulated under number of

environmental and safety laws Accruals for known expo
sures are established based on managements best estimate

after considering the advice of legal counsel

Valuation of long-lived and intangible assets goodwill and

depreciation/amortization periods

We assess the carrying value of long-lived and amortizable

intangible assets and the remaining useful lives whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying

value may not be recoverable or the estimated useful life

may no longer be appropriate Factors considered important

that could trigger this review include significant decreases

in operating results significant changes in our use of the

assets competitive factors and the strategy of our business

and significant negative industry or economic trends We

cannot predict the occurrence of future impairment-trigger

ing events nor the impact such events might have on the

reported asset values Such events may include strategic

decisions made in response to the economic conditions

relative to product lines operations and the impact of the

economic environment on our customer base

When we determine that the carrying value of long-lived and

amortizable intangible assets may not be recoverable based

on an assessment of future undiscounted cash flows from

the use of those assets an impairment charge to record the

assets at fair value may be recorded Impairment is mea
sured based on fair values utilizing estimated discounted

cash flows published third-party sources third-party offers

and information furnished by third-party brokers/dealers

Goodwill is measured as the excess of cost of acquisition

over the sum of the fair values assigned to tangible and

identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities as

sumed We perform goodwill impairment tests at least on an

annual basis We had goodwill of $33.2 million at Decem

ber 31 2008 and $24.7 million at December 31 2007 and

2006

We utilized third-party valuation expert to assist manage

ment to complete the goodwill impairment testing as required

by FAS No 142 During the fourth quarter of 2008 our market

capitalization dropped below the net book value of our

equity We considered this difference while completing our

annual goodwill impairment testing as of December 31 2008

This test concluded that our goodwill was not impaired In

reaching our conclusion relative to this market capitalization

difference we used the average CTS stock price for

recent number of days prior to December 31 2008 and

conservative control premium based on comparative market

transactions in our industry Our analysis assumed revenue

growth of approximately 8% over an extended period of time

If our market capitalization remains at or below its current

level for an extended period of time we may be required to

recognize an impairment If we have goodwill impairment

charge in the future the impairment will have no impact on

future cash flows nor will it result in debt covenant

violation

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2006-2008
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FAS 109

Accounting for Income Taxes as clarified by FASB Interpre

tation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

FIN 48 Under this method deferred income taxes are

determined based on the estimated future tax effects of

differences between the financial statement and tax bases

of assets and liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax

laws Deferred income tax provisions and benefits are based

on changes to the assets or liabilities from year to year In

providing for deferred taxes we consider tax regulations of

the jurisdictions in which we operate estimates of future

taxable income and available tax planning strategies If tax

regulations operating results or the ability to implement tax

planning and strategies vary adjustments to the carrying

value of deferred tax assets and liabilities may be required

Valuation allowances are recorded related to deferred tax

assets based on the more likely than not criteria of

FAS No 109

FIN 48 requires that we recognize the financial statement

benefit of tax position only after determining that the

relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the

position following an audit For tax positions meeting the

more-likely-than-not threshold the amount recognized in the

financial statements is the largest benefit that has greater

than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate

settlement with the relevant tax authority

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on

the difference between the financial statement and income

tax bases of assets and liabilities and carryforwards using

currently enacted tax rates We must also estimate our

current tax exposure for situations where taxing authorities

would assert tax positions different than those we have

taken Such uncertain tax provisions are routinely reviewed

and adjusted when required to reflect changes in estimates

based on factors such as changes in tax laws results of tax

authority reviews and statutory limitations We estimate our

income tax valuation allowance by assessing which deferred

tax assets are more likely than not to be recovered in the

future The valuation allowance is based on our estimates of

taxable income in each jurisdiction in which we operate and

the period over which the deferred tax assets will be

recoverable

No valuation allowance was recorded in 2008 against the

U.S net deferred tax assets including the U.S net operating

loss carryforward asset of $55 million expiring in 2021-2024

We assessed the future realization of these deferred tax

assets utilizing taxable income projections for years 2009

through 2017 Those projections applied taxable income esti

mates consistent with historical earnings patterns of its

traditional automotive and electronic component product

lines and return to levels of profitability in its communica

tion component product line consistent with management

and independent consensus views of the moderate recovery

expected in the markets we served We believe that based

upon the historical operating performance of our business

units and the successful cost reduction efforts we more

likely than not will realize the benefits of its U.S net

deferred tax assets

Retirement Plans

Actuarial assumptions are used in determining pension in

come and expense and the pension benefit obligation After

considering the recommendations of our actuaries we have

assumed discount rate expected rate of return on plan

assets and rate of compensation increase in determining

our annual pension income and expense and the projected

benefit obligation Experience gains/losses arising from any

variance between the expected rate of return of plan assets

and the actual results are amortized over periods ranging

from five to 21 years During the fourth quarter of each year

we review our actuarial assumptions in light of current

economic factors to determine if the assumptions need to be

adjusted Changes in the actuarial assumptions could have

material effect on our results of operations in future years

For 2008 we had weighted-average discount rate of 6.86%

for pension income and expense The discount rate on our

domestic plans was 6.50% at January 2009 The range of

discount rates utilized by our foreign plans changed from

2.75% 6.00% in 2007 to 2.50% 6.90% in 2008 The ex

pected return on domestic plan assets at January 2009

remained at 8.50% and the range of expected returns on

foreign plan assets decreased to 2.50% 6.70% in 2009

from 2.75% 7.13% in 2008 We expect these changes in

actuarial assumptions will decrease 2009 consolidated pen

sion income by approximately $5.8 million

Equity-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 we adopted the provisions of

FAS No 123R that required us to recognize the expense

related to the fair value of equity-based compensation

awards in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings We had

stock options and restricted stock units outstanding at

December 31 2008

FAS No 123R requires companies to estimate the fair value

of stock option awards on the date of grant using an option-

pricing model We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing

model number of assumptions are used by the Black-

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
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Scholes option-pricing model to compute the grant date fair

value including expected price volatility option term risk-

free interest rate and dividend yield These assumptions are

established at each grant date based upon current informa

tion at that time Expected volatilities are based on historical

volatilities of the Companys common stock The expected

option term is derived from historical data on exercise

behavior Different expected option terms result from differ

ent groups of employees exhibiting different behavior The

dividend yield is based on historical dividend payments The

risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the

option is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at

the time of grant The fair value of awards that are ultimately

expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite

service periods in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Our stock options primarily have graded-vesting schedule

We recognize expense on straight-line basis over the

requisite service period for each separately vesting portion

of the award as if the award was in substance multiple

awards

Results of Operations

Business Environment

We are experiencing an extremely difficult global economic

environment which is especially affecting our Components

and Sensors segment Within this segment sales of automo

tive products represented 53% of sales in the fourth quarter

of 2008 The automotive light-vehicle sales decreased 35% in

the United States and approximately 20% in Western Europe

in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to the same period in

2007 and are projected to remain drastically lower worldwide

in 2009 The light-vehicle sales in January 2009 confirmed

further deterioration in automotive sales trends In response

automotive OEMs are idling their plants in an effort to match

production volumes with lower sales levels and have further

reduced their purchases from component suppliers to lower

inventories affecting our near-term sensor and actuator

shipments

In the weakening automotive environment we have diversi

fied our customer base winning new programs and broaden

ing the application of our sensor technology into the

commercial market Most of the new awards won were from

Asian automotive OEMs and our diversification has de

creased the percentage of total sales of the Detroit automo

tive OEMs General Motors Ford and Chrysler which

accounted for only 5% of total CTS sales in the fourth

quarter compared to 9% in the same period last year Our

success in diversifying our customer base provides confi

dence in the growth and profitability of the automotive

sensor and actuator products beyond 2009 when many new

platforms will launch

Within the Components and Sensors segment sales of elec

tronic components represent 47% of sales in the fourth

quarter of 2008 These sales were flat year-over-year due to

the challenging economic environment and program push-

outs by some OEMs Still we achieved record wireless

infrastructure design wins in 2008 which are strong

leading indicator of future program revenue for applications

in 3G wireless WiMax and repeaters

EMS segment sales represented 64% of sales in the fourth

quarter 2008 EMS sales were stronger in the fourth quarter

of 2008 compared to the third quarter of 2008 despite

reduced sales to Hewlett Packard resulting from certain

products going EOL The EMS customer base is more diver

sified in 2008 than 2007 with no customer representing 10%

or more of total company sales in the fourth quarter of 2008

Increased EMS segment sales benefited from both organic

sales increases in the defense and aerospace and medical

markets and sales growth as result of acquiring Orion in

early 2008

Segment Discussion

Refer to Note Segments to our consolidated financial

statements for description of the Companys segments

The following table summarizes net sales and operating

earnings by segment

2008

Net sales to external

customers

Segment operating earnings

of segment sales

2001

Net sales to external

customers

Segment operating earnings

of segment sales

2006

Net sales to external

customers

Segment operating earnings

of segment sales

$399294 $292413 $691701

12362 24553 36915

3.1% 8.4% 5.3%

$405708 $280237 $685945

10175 24716 34891

2.5% 8.8% 5.1%

$385744 $269870 $655614

6179 30963 37142

1.6% 11.5% 5.7%

Components and Sensors Segment Discussion

Sales in the Components and Sensors segment in 2008

increased $12.2 million or 4.3% from 2007 The increase was

primarily due to the acquisition of Tusonix in January 2008

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
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which increased sales by approximately $14.0 million and

improved piezoelectric product sales of approximately

$5.0 million partially offset by lower sales of automotive

sensors and actuators of approximately $3.0 million

Segment operating earnings decreased by $0.2 million or

0.7% from the prior year Major drivers in the year-over-year

decrease were unfavorable absorption of fixed costs espe

cially in the fourth quarter as sales declined significantly

incremental operating expenses of approximately $4.5 million

to support the higher full-year sales and lower royalty

income of approximately $2.0 million These impacts were

mostly offset by the margin contribution from higher full-year

sales volume improved product mix and higher pension

income

In 2008 CTS recorded pension income of $7.3 million com

pared to $4.5 million of pension income recorded in 2007

The higher pension income results primarily from U.S pension

plans with assets in excess of projected benefit obligations

The primary factors contributing to the increase in pension

income were higher gains on the plan assets and higher

discount rate reducing the liability

Sales in the Components and Sensors segment in 2007

increased $10.4 million or 3.8% from 2006 The increase was

primarily due to higher sales of automotive products of

$15.4 million and increased sales in communication infra

structure applications while sales of certain electronic com

ponent legacy resistor products were lower

In 2007 segment operating earnings decreased by $6.2 mil

lion or 20.2% from 2006 Major drivers in the year-over-year

decrease were higher legal and accounting expenses lower

fixed asset gains lower royalty income and favorable

insurance settlement received in the first quarter of 2006

In 2007 CTS recorded pension income of $4.5 million com

pared to $4.0 million of pension income recorded in 2006

The pension income results primarily from U.S pension plans

that with assets in excess of projected benefit obligations

The primary factors contributing to the increase in pension

income were higher expected returns on the plan assets and

changes in actuarial assumptions

Electronic Manufacturing Services Segment Discussion

EMS segment sales in 2008 decreased $6.4 million or 1.6%

from 2007 The decrease primarily resulted from expected

EOL-driven lower sales to Hewlett-Packard and lower indus

trial market sales partially offset by higher sales into de

fense and aerospace and communications markets which

includes the positive impact of the Orion acquisition

The segment operating earnings of $12.4 million increased

$2.2 million or 21.4% from the prior year Earnings were

favorably impacted primarily by improved product mix from

focusing on sales in higher margin markets despite lower

sales volume

EMS segment sales in 2007 increased $20.0 million or 5.2%

from 2006 The increase was driven by higher sales in

industrial defense and aerospace and communications mar

kets partially offset by lower computer and medical market

sales

In 2007 segment operating earnings of $10.2 million in

creased $4.0 million or 64.7% from 2006 Earnings were

favorably impacted primarily by margin contribution from

higher sales volume and improved product mix partially

offset by higher compensation expenses and higher legal

and accounting expenses

Sales in Geographic Regions

Our sales in 2008 increased in the Americas to 56% from

53% in 2007 The Asia-Pacific region accounted for 31% of

total sales in 2008 and 34% in 2007 Sales in Europe were

unchanged from prior year at 13% in 2008 The following

table presents the percentage of net sales into each geo

graphic region within each segment and consolidated

Components Sensors EMS Consolidated Total

Geographic Region 2008 2001 20% 2008 2001 2008 2008 2001 2006

Americas 44% 49% 51% 65% 56% 48% 56% 53% 49%

Asia-Pacific 29% 26% 26% 32% 40% 46% 31% 34% 38%

Europe 21% 25% 23% 3% 4% 6% 13% 13% 13%

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Discussion Most Recent Three Years

The following table highlights significant information from our

consolidated results of operations during the past three

years

Year Ended December 31

In thousands of dollars 2008 2007 2006

Net sales

Cost of goods sold

Restructuring-related charges

Gross margin

of net sales

Selling general and

administrative expenses

of net sales

Research and development

expenses

of net sales

Gain loss on asset sales

Restructuring and impairment

charges

Operating earnings

of net sales

$691701 $685945 $655614

554116 553038 533828

518 215 956

137013 132692 120830

19.8% 19.3% 18.4%

5567 2401 3368

30830 32275 32818

4.5h 4.7% 5.0%

3814 3100 3654

2279 3300 1502

29295 32475 30666

591 7063 6469

298861 254122 24197

43 3.7 3.7

0.81 0.662

Net sales increased $5.8 million in 2008 or 0.8% from the

prior year due to Components and Sensors sales increase of

$12.2 million The sales increase was primarily attributable to

the acquisition of Tusonix in January 2008 which increased

sales by approximately $14.0 million and improved

piezoelectric product sales of approximately $5.0 million Full-

year sales of automotive sensors and actuators were down

1.6% as the impact of drastically lower automotive sales

worldwide accelerated over the course of 2008 and was

partially offset by the capture of new customers and new

product introductions Sales decreased $6.4 million in the

EMS segment driven by expected EOL-driven lower sales to

Hewlett-Packard and lower industrial market sales partially

offset by higher sales in defense and aerospace and com

munications markets including the positive impact of the

recent Orion acquisition

The Companys 15 largest customers represented 53% of net

sales in 2008 down from 59% in 2007 and 61% in 2006 We

continue our efforts to broaden our business base with

expansion in defense and aerospace communication and

medical markets in the EMS segment and the diversification

of automotive sensors and actuators and piezoelectric product

offerings in the Components and Sensors segment Sales to

Hewlett-Packard Company represented 11% of net sales in

2008 17% of net sales in 2007 and 22% of net sales in 2006

Gross margins in 2008 increased $4.4 million from 2007 due

to favorable product mix and improved cost controls in both

segments partially offset by unfavorable absorption of fixed

costs Gross margins within the Components and Sensors

segment were also positively impacted by the contribution

from higher sales and higher pension income partially offset

by lower royalty income

Gross margins in 2007 increased $11.9 million from 2006 due

to the contribution from higher sales volume and improved

operational efficiencies in both segments Gross margins as

percent of sales were 19.3% in 2007 compared to 18.4% in

2006 Within the Components and Sensors segment margins

were negatively impacted by unfavorable product mix and

lower royalty income partially offset by lower restructuring-

related costs Within the EMS segment margins were favor

ably impacted by improved product mix and lower material

spending partially offset by higher restructuring and

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
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1806

2.6%

219

15896

2.3%

42

15873

2.4%

2142

Net sales increased $30.3 million in 2007 or 4.6% from 2006

primarily due to EMS sales increase of $20.0 million and

82589 82078 70913
growth in automotive component sales of $15.4 million The

11.9% 12.0% 10.8% EMS sales increase was attributable to higher sales in

industrial defense and aerospace and communications mar

kets partially offset by lower computer and medical market

sales In addition to the growth of automotive product sales

in the Components and Sensors segment sales in communi

cation infrastructure applications increased while sales of

certain electronic component legacy resistor products were

lower

Interest expense

Other income

Earnings before income taxes

Income tax benefit expense

Net earnings

of net sales

Diluted earnings per share

Net earnings and diluted earnings per share include net impact of

.$ million or $0 10 per diluted share related to restructuring and re

structuring-related charges as result of company-wide restructuring

plans $1.4 million or $0.04 per diluted share benefif pertaining to

change in the tax law of certain jurisdiction and $4.1 million or $0.11

per diluted share benefit related to reversal of tax reserves

Net earnings and diluted earnings per share include net impact of

$2.0 million or $0.05 per diluted share related to restructuring and re

structuring-related charges associated with the realignment of

operations

Net earnings and diluted earnings per share include net impact of

$3.4 million or $0.08 per diluted share related to restructuring and re

structuring-related charges associated with the consolidation of the

Berne Indiana operations and the further impairment of an idle facility

lease
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restructuring-related charges associated with the realign

ment of operations in the fourth quarter of 2007

Selling general and administrative expenses as percent

age of sales were 11.9% in 2008 and 12.0% in 2007 Legal

and accounting fees occurring in 2007 were offset by

expenses associated with acquisitions in 2008

Selling general and administrative expenses as percent

age of sales increased to 12.0% in 2007 from 10.8% in 2006

Expenses increased $11.2 million primarily from higher legal

and accounting fees higher compensation expenses and

favorable insurance claim settlement recorded in 2006

Research and development expenses were $18.3 million in

2008 compared to $15.9 million in both 2007 and 2006 The

year-over-year increase reflects higher resources devoted to

the development and launch of new commercial market

growth initiatives Ongoing research and development invest

ment continues in the Components and Sensors segment

Our research and development activities are primarily fo

cused on expanded applications and new product develop

ment as well as current product and process

enhancements Research and development expenditures in

the EMS segment are typically very low

Operating earnings in 2008 decreased to $30.8 million or

4.4% of sales from $32.3 million or 4.7% of sales in 2007

primarily due to higher restructuring and research and

development expenses as discussed above partially offset

by higher gross margins

Operating earnings in 2007 decreased slightly to $32.3 million

or 4.7% of sales from $32.8 million or 5.0% of sales in 2006

primarily due to higher selling general and administrative

expenses as discussed above offset by higher gross mar

gins The decrease in operating earnings was partially offset

by higher gross margins and by lower restructuring and

restructuring-related charges in 2007 than in 2006

Interest and other expense in 2008 was $1.5 million versus

income of $0.2 million in 2007 Compared to the prior year

net interest expense increased $1.3 million from higher

outstanding debt balances and lower interest rates on cash

balances Foreign currency exchange losses were $1.3 million

in 2008 versus gain of $1.1 million in 2007

Interest and other income in 2007 was $0.2 million versus an

expense of $2.2 million in 2006 Compared to the prior year

interest income increased $1.1 million from higher cash

balances and interest expense was $0.6 million lower prima

rily from lower outstanding debt balances Foreign currency

exchange gains increased $0.8 million in 2007 as the dollar

appreciated against virtually all major world currencies

During 2008 we changed our effective tax rate from 21 .75%

to 2.02% This tax benefit reflects the reversal of valua

tion allowance in China the implementation of the fifth

protocol of the Canada-U.S tax treaty greater portion of

earnings coming from lower tax rate jurisdictions and for

eign tax holidays These tax holidays unless extended are

scheduled to expire in 2009-2011

Net earnings increased $4.5 million to $29.9 million in 2008

from $25.4 million in 2007 Net earnings in 2008 included

net impact of $6.1 million or $0.10 per diluted share related

to restructuring and restructuring-related charges as result

of company-wide restructuring plan $1.4 million or $0.04

per diluted share pertaining to change in the tax law of

certain jurisdiction and $4.1 million or $0.11 per diluted

share related to reversal of tax reserves

Restructuring and Restructuring-Related Charges

In September 2008 we initiated certain restructuring actions

to transfer and consolidate certain operations to further

improve our cost structure These actions resulted in the

elimination of approximately 400 positions and the write-off

of certain leasehold improvements during the second half of

2008 These actions were substantially complete in Decem

ber 2008 We incurred approximately $5.5 million in restruc

turing and restructuring-related costs as result of these

actions

Of the restructuring and restructuring-related costs incurred

$4.8 million relates to the Components and Sensors segment

and $0.7 million relates to the EMS segment Restructuring

charges are reported on separate line on the Consolidated

Statements of Earnings and the restructuring-related costs

are included in cost of goods sold

In November 2007 we announced realignment of opera

tions intended to create synergies by further enhancing our

shared services model to include manufacturing support

functions at locations that serve more than one business In

addition certain production lines were transferred to better

serve key customers and leverage existing capacity The

realignment process was completed in the second quarter of

2008 As result of this realignment we incurred approx

imately $2.6 million and $0.6 million in restructuring and

restructuring-related costs in 2007 and 2008 respectively

Of the restructuring and restructuring-related costs incurred

$0.9 million relates to the Components and Sensors segment

and $2.3 million relates to the EMS segment Restructuring

charges are reported on separate line on the Consolidated

CTS CORPORATION



Statements of Earnings and the restructuring-related costs

are included in cost of goods sold

In January 2006 we announced our intention to consolidate

our Berne Indiana manufacturing operations into three of

our other facilities Automotive product operations at Berne

were transferred to CTS automotive facilities in Matamoros

Mexico and Elkhart Indiana Electronic components opera

tions in Berne were moved to CTS Singapore facility The

Berne facility is currently being marketed for sale As of

December 31 2006 the Berne consolidation process was

substantially completed with all expected charges recorded

As result of this action we incurred approximately

$3.9 million in restructuring and restructuring-related costs in

2006

Additionally during 2006 CTS recorded pre-tax restructur

ing charge of $0.4 million or $0.3 million after-tax and $0.01

per diluted share when it revised its estimate of the fair

value of the remaining net liability of the operating lease for

the idle Marlborough facility

Of the restructuring and restructuring-related costs $3.9 mil

lion relates to the Components and Sensors segment and

$0.4 million relates to the EMS segment Restructuring

charges are reported on separate line on the Consolidated

Statement of Earnings and the restructuring-related costs

are included in cost of goods sold

See Note Restructuring Charges to our consolidated

financial statements for further discussion

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Cash and cash equivalents were $44.6 million at December 31

2008 compared to $52.9 million at December 31 2007 Total

debt increased to $80.5 million on December 31 2008 from

$73.0 million on December 31 2007 due to increased borrow

ing against our revolving credit agreement primarily to com

plete two acquisitions

Total debt as percentage of total capitalization was 22.5%

at the end of 2008 compared with 18.4% in 2007 Total debt

as percentage of total capitalization is defined as the sum

of notes payable current portion of long-term debt and long-

term debt as percentage of total debt and shareholders

equity

Working capital decreased by $9.3 million in 2008 primarily

due to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $8.2 mil

lion decreases in accounts receivable of $6.5 million net

inventory of $2.9 million and current deferred tax assets of

$6.4 million partially offset by an accounts payable decrease

of $12.9 million

Cash Flow

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operations was $34.1 million in 2008

Components of cash flows from operations primarily included

net earnings of $29.9 million depreciation and amortization

of $24.2 million and $5.6 million of restructuring charges

offset by an increase in the prepaid pension asset of

$10.8 million and unfavorable changes in assets and liabilities

of $15.5 million The changes in assets and liabilities were

primarily due to decreased accounts payable and accrued

liabilities of $26.7 million partially offset by decreased inven

tory of $9.6 million and decreased accounts receivable of

$7.4 million

Net cash provided by operations was $48.6 million in 2007

Components of cash flows from operations included net

earnings of $25.4 million depreciation and amortization of

$22.8 million and $2.4 million of restructuring charges offset

by an increase in the prepaid pension asset of $9.1 million

and unfavorable changes in assets and liabilities of $1.8 million

The changes in assets and liabilities were primarily due to

increased inventory of $12.8 million partially offset by de

creased accounts receivable of $5.4 million and increased

accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $4.7 million

Net cash provided by operations was $47.2 million in 2006

Components of cash flows from operations included net

earnings of $24.2 million depreciation and amortization of

$24.9 million and $3.4 million of restructuring charges In

addition there were $15.2 million of unfavorable changes in

accounts receivable partially offset by $8.4 million increase

in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $38.4 million in

2008 including $21.1 million paid for the acquisitions of

Tusonix and Orion and $17.6 million of capital expenditures

See Note Acquisitions to our consolidated financial

statements for further details on the acquisitions

Net cash used in investing activities was $17.0 million in

2007 including capital expenditures of $16.1 million and

$1.0 million payment for the purchase of Alpha Ceramics

Inc See Note Acquisitions to our consolidated financial

statements for further details

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $1.3 million in

2006 including capital expenditures of $15.8 million partially

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2006-2008
continued
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offset by $14.5 million of net proceeds from the sale of

assets

Free Cash Flow

The following table summarizes free cash flow for the

Company

Year Ended December 31
In millions of dollars 2008 2007 2006

Net cash provided by operations 34.1 48.6 47.2

Capital expenditures 17.6 16.1 15.8

Free cash flow 16.5 32.5 31.4

Free cash flow is non-GAAP financial measure that CTS

defines as net cash provided by operations less capital

expenditures The most directly comparable GAAP measure

is net cash provided by operations Management uses free

cash flow to evaluate financial performance and in strategic

planning specifically for investing and financing decisions

Management believes free cash flow is useful measure

because it reflects the performance of our overall operations

more accurately than net cash provided by operations and

because it provides investors with the same results that

management used as the basis for making decisions about

the business Free cash flow is not an indicator of residual

cash available for discretionary spending because it does

not take into account mandatory debt service or other non-

discretionary spending requirements that are not deducted in

the calculation of free cash flow Management takes these

limitations into account when using free cash flow to make

investing and financing decisions

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities in 2008 was $2.1 million

which included $25.3 million paid to repurchase $27.5 million of

our senior subordinated debentures at discount $7.0 million

for the purchase of CTS common stock and dividend payments

of $4.1 million partially offset by $36.0 million of net proceeds

from increased borrowing under our existing revolving credit

agreement

Net cash used in financing activities in 2007 was $17.5 million

which included $20.3 million for the purchase of CTS com

mon stock reductions in short-term notes payable of $4.4 mil

lion and $4.3 million in dividend payments partially offset by

$11.1 million related to additional long-term debt

Net cash used in financing activities in 2006 was $22.1 million

consisting of $15.6 million related mainly to the reductions in

the subordinated debenture balance and short-term notes

payable $2.3 million purchase of CTS common stock and

$4.3 million in dividend payments

Capital Resources

Refer to Note Debt to our consolidated financial state

ments for further discussion

Long-term debt was comprised of the following at

December 31

in thousands 2008 2007

Revolving credit agreement weighted-average

interest rate of 3.3% 2008 and 5.6% 2007
due in 2011 $48000 $12000

Convertible senior subordinated notes at

weighted-average rate of 2.125% due in 2024 32500 60000

Total long-term debt $80500 $72000

The debt matures as follows 2008 $0 million 2009

$0 million 2010$0 million 2011 $48 million 2012$0
thereafter $32.5 million

On June 27 2006 we entered into $100 million unsecured

revolving credit agreement Under the terms of the revolving

credit agreement we can expand the credit facility to

$150 million subject to participating banks approval There

was $48 million and $12 million outstanding under the revolv

ing credit agreement at December 31 2008 and 2007 respec

tively Interest rates on the revolving credit agreement

fluctuate based upon LIBOR and our quarterly total leverage

ratio We pay commitment fee on the undrawn portion of

the revolving credit agreement The commitment fee varies

based on the quarterly leverage ratio and was 0.20 percent

per annum at December 31 2008 The revolving credit

agreement requires among other things that we comply

with maximum total leverage ratio and minimum fixed

charge coverage ratio Failure to comply with these cove

nants could reduce the borrowing availability under the

revolving credit agreement We were in compliance with all

debt covenants at December 31 2008 We do not expect any

violations of these covenants unless there is material

decrease in net earnings for prolonged period that would

cause us to be unable to quickly reduce fixed expenses

The revolving credit agreement also requires us to deliver

quarterly financial statements annual financial statements

auditors certifications and compliance certificates within

specified number of days after the end of quarter or year

Additionally the revolving credit agreement contains restric

tions limiting our ability to dispose of assets incur certain

additional debt repay other debt or amend subordinated

debt instruments create liens on assets make investments

loans or advances make acquisitions or engage in mergers

or consolidations engage in certain transactions with our

CIS CORPORATION



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2006-2008
continued

subsidiaries and affiliates and the amounts allowed for stock

repurchases and dividend payments The revolving credit

agreement expires in June 2011

We have $32.5 million in aggregate principal amount of

senior subordinated debentures 2.125% Debentures

These unsecured debentures bear interest at rate of

2.125% payable semiannually on May and November of

each year through the maturity date of May 2024 The

2.125% Debentures are convertible under certain circum

stances into CTS common stock at price of $15.00 per

share which is equivalent to an initial conversion rate of

approximately 66.6667 shares per $1000 principal amount of

the notes Upon conversion of the 2.125% Debentures in

lieu of delivering common stock we may at our discretion

deliver cash or combination of cash and common stock

The conversion price of the 2.125% Debentures will be

adjusted if we complete certain transactions including

distribution of shares as dividend to substantially all

shareholders subdivision combination or reclassification of

its common stock distribution of stock purchase warrants to

substantially all shareholders distribution of cash stock or

property to shareholders in excess of $0.03 per share or

purchase of its common stock pursuant to tender offer or

exchange offer under certain circumstances

Holders may convert the 2.125% Debentures at any time

during conversion period if the closing price of CTS

common stock is more than 120% of the conversion price

$18.00 per share for at least 20 of the 30 consecutive

trading days immediately preceding the first trading day of

the conversion period The conversion periods begin on

February 15 May 15 August 15 and November 15 of each

year Holders may also convert the notes if certain corporate

transactions occur As of December 31 2008 none of the

conditions for conversion of the 2.125% Debentures were

satisfied

The Debt Holder shall have the right at the Holders option

to require us to purchase all of the Holders 2.125% Deben

tures called for redemption as directed on each of May

2009 May 2014 and May 2019 We shall be required to

purchase the 2.125% Debentures at purchase price in cash

equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and

unpaid interest We may at our option redeem for cash all

or portion of the 2.125% Debentures at any time on or after

May 2009 at redemption price equal to 100% of the

principal amount of the debentures to be redeemed plus

accrued and unpaid interest In the fourth quarter 2008 we

purchased $27.5 million of our 2.125% Debentures through

open market discounted transactions In the event that

holders of the 2.125% Debentures require us to purchase

portion or all of the remaining $32.5 million principal amount

of the 2.125% Debentures on May 2009 we intend to

utilize borrowing under our existing revolving credit agree

ment to fund the redemption in the event other long-term

financing is not utilized

We have historically funded our capital and operating needs

primarily through cash flows from operations supported by

available credit under our bank credit agreements We

believe that expected positive cash flows from operations

and available borrowings under our current credit agree

ments will be adequate to fund our working capital capital

expenditures redemption of 2.125% Debentures and debt

service requirements for at least the next twelve months

However we may choose to pursue additional equity and/or

debt financing to provide additional liquidity and/or fund

acquisitions

In November 2005 our Board of Directors authorized

program to repurchase up to one million shares of our

common stock in the open market Reacquired shares were

used to support equity-based compensation programs and

for other corporate purposes During 2007 under this pro

gram we repurchased 395000 shares at total cost of

$4.9 million before the program expired June 29 2007

In June 2007 our Board of Directors authorized program to

repurchase up to two million shares of our common stock in

the open market The authorization expires on June 30 2009

Reacquired shares were used to support equity-based com

pensation programs and for other corporate purposes Since

June 2007 we have repurchased 2000000 shares at total

cost of $22.2 million which completed this program

In May 2008 our Board of Directors authorized program to

repurchase up to one million shares of CTS common stock in

the open market at maximum price of $13 per share The

authorization expires on June 30 2009 Reacquired shares

will be used to support equity-based compensation programs

and for other corporate purposes During 2008 we repur

chased 22500 shares at total cost of $0.2 million
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Capital Requirements

The following table sets forth the impact that contractual

obligations as of December 31 2008 are expected to have

on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods

Payments flue by Period

in millions Total 2009 2010-2011 2012-2013 2014-beyond

Long-term debt 92.7 1.3 $50.3 1.4 $39.7

Operating leases 27.9 7.5 11.5 6.0 2.9

Obligations associated

with FIN 48 4.5 0.4 0.9 3.2

Purchase obligations

Retirement obligations 19.4 2.1 4.7 3.9 8.7

Total $144.5 $11.3 $67.4 $11.3 $54.5

Including principal and coupon payments of the 2.125% Debentures is

sued in 2004 and principal and interest payments of the revolving credit

agreement The holders of the 2.125% Debentures have the right to re

quire us to purchase for cash all of the remaining $32.5 million

2.125% Debentures on May 2009 May 2014 or May 2019 Refer

to Note Debt in our consolidated financial statements

Debentures issued in May 2004 Investors may convert the debentures

under certain circumstances at any time to CTS common stock The

conversion price is $15.00 per share

Purchase obligations are defined as agreements that are

enforceable and legally binding and that specify all signifi

cant terms including fixed or minimum quantities to be

purchased fixed minimum or variable price provisions and

the approximate timing of the transaction We purchased

direct materials generally related to customer orders for

production occurring at our manufacturing facilities around

the world These goods are secured using purchase orders

either blanket or discrete Purchase orders commit us to

take delivery of the quantities ordered generally over

specified delivery schedule Our standard purchase order

terms and conditions state that should we cancel an order

we will reimburse our supplier only for the costs incurred at

the time of cancellation Our purchase order cancellations

generally occur due to order cancellation by customer If

customer cancels its order our standard terms of sale

provide for reimbursement of costs including those related

to our purchase orders Therefore these commitments are

not included in purchase obligations

Retirement obligations include defined benefit and other

post-retirement benefits Please refer to Note Retirement

Plans and Note Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies in our consolidated financial statement for addi

tional information related to the retirement plans including

the important assumptions

We utilize market-related approach in deriving fair value of

plan assets We do not expect any significant change in the

approach in 2009 For plan asset allocation detail please

refer to Note Retirement Plans in our consolidated

financial statements We do not expect to make changes to

the asset allocation in 2009 However we may elect to make

changes to the asset allocation based on the performance of

different asset categories after conducting investment port

folio reviews annual liability measurements and asset/liabil

ity studies on regular basis

During 2008 actual returns on plan assets deviated signifi

cantly from expected returns on plan assets The deviation

between expected and actual returns was primarily due to

market conditions with approximately half of the loss in

asset value occurring in the fourth quarter of 2008

Based on our current assumptions relating to our pension

plans we do not expect to make any cash contributions to

the United States defined benefit plans in the foreseeable

future The most significant assumptions relate to the dis

count rate the expected long term return on plan assets and

the rate of future compensation increase If these assump

tions prove to be incorrect then we may need to record

additional expense relating to the pension plans which could

have material effect on our results of operations and could

require cash contributions to fund future pension payments

2009 Outlook

As result of the economic environment affecting many of

our customers and lack of forward visibility proactive mea

sures have been taken to manage our cost structure and

cash flows while continuing to invest in new products and

to seek growth opportunities We will continue to reduce

certain discretionary spending which will continue to have

positive effect on operating expenses and cash flows We

will continue to monitor all spending and may take additional

actions if warranted

Extremely challenging market conditions and minimal visibil

ity make it very difficult to plan for 2009 Sales in 2009 are

estimated to decline 12% to 18% from 2008 sales to range

of $565 million to $610 million Full-year diluted earnings per

share are projected in range of $0.15 to $0.25 per share

These full-year projections include an especially tough first

quarter and we expect to record net loss with economic

conditions improving gradually in the second half of the year

Our 2009 effective tax rate is expected to be in the range of

22%24%

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS MDA OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2006-2008

continued
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and

Shareholders of CTS Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CTS Corporation an Indiana corporation and subsidiaries the

Company as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of earnings shareholders equity and cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 Our audits of the basic financial statements included the

financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Schedule IlValuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves We

also have audited the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in

Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
The Companys management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule for maintaining effective

internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule and an opinion on the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based on our audits Our audit of and opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting does not

include internal control over financial reporting of Tusonix Inc wholly owned subsidiary whose financial statements reflect total

assets and revenues constituting and percent respectively of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for

the year ended December 31 2008 As indicated in Managements Report Tusonix Inc was acquired during 2008 and therefore

managements assertion on the effectiveness of the Company internal control over financial reporting excluded internal control over

financial reporting of Tusonix Inc

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control

over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we

considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures

that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of the Company as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of

the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the

basic financial statements taken as whole present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by COSO

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 20 2009
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
In thousands of dollars except per share amounts

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006

Net sales $691701 $685945 $655614

Costs and expenses

Cost of goods sold 554634 553253 534784

Selling general and administrative expenses 82589 82078 70913

Research and development expenses 18306 15896 15873

Gain/loss on asset sales 219 42 2142

Restructuring and impairment charges Note 5561 2401 3368

Operating earnings 30830 32275 32818

Other expense/income

Interest expense 3814 3100 3654

Interest income 1421 2052 934

Other 858 1248 568

Total other expense/income 1535 200 2152

Earnings before income taxes 29295 32475 30666

Income tax benefit/expense Note 591 7063 6469

Net earnings 29888 25412 24197

Net Earnings per share Note

Basic 0.89 0.72 0.68

Diluted 0.81 0.66 0.63

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
In thousands of dollars except share amounts

December 31
2008 2001

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 44628 52868

Accounts receivable less allowances 2008$2165 2007$1304 94175 100655

Inventories net Finished goods 7813 9592

Work-in-process 16246 18064

Raw materials 46808 46122

Total inventories net 70861 73778

Current deferred tax asset Note 8013 14494

Other current assets 8099 9045

Total current assets 225842 250840

Property plant and equipment

Land 2998 1783

Buildings 96133 98865

Machinery and equipment 249415 258438

Total property plant and equipment 348606 359086

Accumulated depreciation 257850 266261

Net property plant and equipment 90156 92825

Other assets

Prepaid pension assetNote 18156 107158

Goodwill Note 33150 24657

Other
intangible assets net Note 36921 36743

Deferred income taxes Note 82093 30237

Other assets 931 1232

Total other assets 171851 200027

Total Assets 488455 543692

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Notes payable Note 1000

Accounts payable 11285 84217

Accrued salaries wages and vacation 14316 15296

Income taxes payable 6592 5581

Other accrued liabilities 21048 22825

Total current liabilities 113241 128919

Long-term debt Note 80500 72000

Other long-term obligations Notes and 11536 18526

Contingencies Note

Shareholders Equity

Preferred stock authorized 25000000 shares without par value none issued Note

Common stock authorized 75000000 shares without par value 54031844 shares issued at December 31 2008 and

53919733 shares issued at December 31 2007 Note 280266 278916

Additional contributed capital 30156 28563

Retained earnings 362391 336548

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 98626 29808

574181 614219

Cost of common stock held in treasury 2008 20320759 shares 2007 19606459 shares Note 297009 289972

Total shareholders equity 211178 324247

Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity $488455 543692

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In thousands of doHars

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

24178

10188

2237

3375

4687

219
5567

1377

9585

16181

10514

422
5295

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

25412

22818

9122

3944

3295

1572

42

2401

5357

12812

6011

1307

2246

1.254

24197

24896

6173

4071

1885

2142

3368

15222

87

9486

1082
1933

1881

2008

29886

Cash flows from operating activities

Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation and amortization

Prepaid pension asset

Amortization of retirement benefit adjustments Note

Equity-based compensation Note

Deferred income taxes Note

Gain/loss on asset sales

Restructuring charge Note

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects from acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Income taxes payable

Other

Total adjustments 4213 23191 22988

Net cash provided by operations 34099 48603 47185

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of assets 308 65 14482

Capital expenditures 17647 16058 15787

Payment for acquisitions net of cash acquired Note 21054 1028

Net cash used in investing activities 38.393 17021 1305

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings of long-term debt 1662550 94600 73850

Payments of long-term debt 1651823 83457 81608

Borrowings of short-term notes payable 6426 47571 123758

Payments of short-term notes payable 7426 51996 131632

Purchase of treasury stock 7037 20344 2309

Dividends paid 4063 4279 4307

Other 119 381 112

Net cash used in financing activities 2092 17524 22136

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 1854 180 2857

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 8240 14238 26601

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 52868 38630 12029

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 44628 52868 38630

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid during the year for

Interest 3315 2532 3133

Income taxes net 4821 2301 1568

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities

Refer to Note Supplemental Schedule of Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
In thousands of dollars

Accumulated

Additional Other

Common Contributed Retained Comprehensive Comprehensive Treasury

Stock Capital Earnings Earnings Loss Earnings Stock Total

Balances at January 2006 $275211 $24743 $295478 244 $261095 $328093

Net earnings 24197 24197 24197

Cumulative translation adjustment 4810 4810 4810

Minimum pension liability adjustment net of tax of $50 369 369 369

Comprehensive earnings $29376

Adjustment to initially apply FAS No 158 net of tax 36218 36218

Cash dividends of $0.12 per share 4305 4305

Issued 70943 shares on exercise of stock option net 515 112 463

Issued 64372 shares on vesting of restricted stock units 767 1133 366

Acquired 170600 shares for treasury stock 2309 2309

Tax benefits on exercise of options 193 193

Stock compensation 4096 4096

Balances at December 31 2006 $276553 $27899 $315370 $31283 $269516 $319023

Net earnings 25412 25412 25412

Cumulative translation adjustment 486 486 486

Other comprehensive income net of tax

Prior service costs 152 152 152

Unrecognized loss 831 837 837

Comprehensive earnings $26887

Cash dividends of $0.12 per share 4234 4234

Returned 2000 shares on restricted stock and cash bonus plan

net 27 38 65
Issued 50400 shares on exercise of stock option net 1889 1889

Exchanged 3551 shares for stock options 46 46
Issued 199087 shares on vesting of restricted stock units 447 2723 2276

Acquired 1705200 shares for treasury stock 20345 20345

Tax benefits on exercise of options 54 54

Stock compensation 3295 3295

Balances at December 31 2001 $278916 $28563 $336548 $29808 $289912 $324247

Net earnings 29886 29886 29886

Cumulative translation adjustment 9111 9111 9111

Other comprehensive income net of tax

Prior service costs 324 324 324

Unrecognized loss 60031 60031 60031

Comprehensive loss $38932

Cash dividends of $0.12 per share 4043 4043

Issued 7100 shares on exercise of stock option net 61 61

Issued 105011 shares on vesting of restricted stock units 1289 1124 435

Acquired 714300 shares for treasury stock 7037 7031

Tax cost on exercise of options 58 58
Stock compensation 3375 3375

Balances at December 31 2008 $280266 $30156 $362391 $98626 $297009 $277118

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of the consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business CTS Corporation CTS or the Company is

global manufacturer of electronic components and sensors

and supplier of electronic manufacturing services The

Company designs manufactures assembles and sells

broad line of electronic components and sensors and pro

vides electronic manufacturing services primarily to original

equipment manufacturers OEMs CTS operates manufac

turing facilities located throughout North America Asia and

Europe and services major markets globally

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial state

ments include the accounts of CTS and its wholly owned

subsidiaries Refer to Note Acquisitions for discus

sion of the acquisitions made by CTS All significant inter

company accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in

conformity within the accounting principles generally ac

cepted in the United States of America requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities the disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during

the reporting period Actual results could differ materially

from those estimates

Translation of Foreign Currencies The financial statements

of CTS non-U.S subsidiaries except the U.K subsidiary are

remeasured into U.S dollars using the U.S dollar as the

functional currency with all remeasurement adjustments

included in the determination of net earnings CTS Consoli

dated Statements of Earnings includes $1.3 million of foreign

currency translation loss for the year ended December 31

2008 and $1.1 million and $0.3 million of foreign currency

translation gain for the years ended December 31 2007 and

2006 respectively

The assets and liabilities of CTS U.K subsidiary are trans

lated into U.S dollars at the current exchange rate at period

end with resulting translation adjustments made directly to

the accumulated other comprehensive earnings loss

component of shareholders equity Statement of earnings

accounts are translated at the average rates during the

period

Comprehensive Earnings CTS reports comprehensive earn

ings in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards

Boards FASB Financial Accounting Standard FAS
No 130 Reporting Comprehensive Income Loss The

components of comprehensive earnings for CTS include

foreign currency translation adjustments unrecognized pen

sion losses and prior service costs and net earnings and

are reported within the Consolidated Statements of Share

holders Equity in the columns titled Comprehensive

Earnings and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings

Loss

The table below shows the components of accumulated

other comprehensive earnings loss at December 31

in thousands 2008

Accumulated translation 1423 7688

Unrecognized amounts relating to

benefit plans

Net loss 95561 35530

Prior service costs 1642 1966

Accumulated other comprehensive

loss $98626 $29808

Revenue Recognition Substantially all of CTS revenue is

from product sales CTS recognizes revenue from product

sales when title transfers the risks and rewards of owner

ship have been transferred to the customer the sales price

is fixed and determinable and collection of the related

receivable is probable which is generally at the time of

shipment The Company has agreements with its distributors

that provide limited rights of return within limited time and

protection against price reductions initiated by the Company

The effect of these programs is estimated based on histori

cal experience and current economic conditions and provi

sions are recorded at the time of shipment CTS customers

typically have right to return products that they consider to

be defective Revenue is recorded net of estimated returns

of products based on managements analysis of historical

returns current economic trends and changes in customer

demands All fees billed to the customer for shipping and

handling are classified as component of net revenues All

costs associated with shipping and handling is classified as

components of cost of sales Provisions for returns and

other adjustments are provided for in the same period the

related sales are recorded based on experience and other

relevant factors CTS classifies sales taxes on net basis in

its consolidated financial statements

Concentration of Credit Risk The majority of cash and cash

equivalents is maintained in U.S dollar demand deposits

AAA money market mutual funds and in U.S government

securities with the remainder maintained with several major

financial institutions Deposits with these banks exceed the

amount of insurance provided on such deposits however

the deposits typically may be redeemed upon demand and

therefore bear minimal risk

Trade receivables subject CTS to the potential for credit risk

with major customers CTS sells its products to customers

principally in the automotive communications computer

medical industrial and defense and aerospace markets

primarily in North America Europe and Asia CTS performs

2007
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ongoing credit evaluations of its customers to minimize

credit risk CTS does not require collateral The allowance

for doubtful accounts is based on managements estimates

of the collectability of its accounts receivable after analyzing

historical bad debts customer concentrations customer

credit worthiness and current economic trends Uncollect

ible trade receivables are charged against the allowance for

doubtful accounts when all reasonable efforts to collect the

amounts due have been exhausted Sales to Hewlett-Pack

ard Company Hewlett-Packard were 11% of net sales for

the year ended December 31 2008 17% of net sales for the

year ended December 31 2007 and 22% of net sales for the

year ended December 31 2006 Amounts due from Hewlett-

Packard were $7 million at December 31 2008 and $18 million

at December 31 2007 Amounts due from Motorola were

$14 million at December 31 2008 and $11 million at Decem

ber 31 2007 Significant sales to single customer expose

CTS to concentration of credit risk Management however

believes the likelihood of incurring material losses due to

concentration of credit risk is remote

Research and Development Research and development

costs include expenditures for planned search and investiga

tion aimed at discovery of new knowledge to be used to

develop new products or processes or to significantly en
hance existing products or production processes Research

and development costs also include the implementation of

the new knowledge through design testing of product alter

natives or construction of prototypes CTS expenses all

research and development costs as incurred

Earnings Per Share Basic and diluted earnings per common

share are reported in conformity with the FAS No 128

Earnings per Share Basic earnings per share excludes

any dilution and is computed by dividing net earnings avail

able to common shareholders by the weighted-average num
ber of common shares outstanding for the period

Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that

could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common

stock resulted in the issuance of common stock that shared

in CTS earnings Diluted earnings per share is computed by

dividing net earnings adjusted for the after-tax effect of

interest on dilutive convertible debt by the weighted-average

number of common shares outstanding during the period

plus the incremental shares that would have been outstand

ing upon the assumed exercise of dilutive securities If the

common stock equivalents have an anti-dilutive effect they

are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per

share Refer also to Note Earnings Per Share

Equity-Based Compensation Effective January 2006 CTS

adopted the provisions of FAS No 123R Share-Based

Payment which requires CTS to recognize expense related

to the fair value of equity-based compensation awards in the

Consolidated Statements of Earnings CTS had stock options

and restricted stock units outstanding at December 31 2008

Please refer to Note Equity-Based Compensation for

further discussion

FAS No 123R requires companies to estimate the fair value

of stock option awards on the date of grant using an option-

pricing model CTS uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing

model number of assumptions are used by the Black

Scholes option-pricing model to compute the grant date fair

value including expected price volatility option term risk-

free interest rate and dividend yield These assumptions are

established at each grant date based upon current informa

tion at that time Expected volatilities are based on historical

volatilities of the Companys stock The expected option term

is derived from historical data on exercise behavior Difterent

expected option terms result from different groups of em
ployees exhibiting different behavior The dividend yield is

based on historical dividend payments The risk-free rate for

periods within the contractual life of the option is based on

the U.S Treasury yield curve at the time of grant The fair

value of awards that are ultimately expected to vest is

recognized as expense over the requisite service periods in

the Consolidated Statements of Earnings CTS stock options

primarily have graded-vesting schedule CTS recognizes

expense on straight-line basis over the requisite service

period for each separately vesting portion of the award as if

the award was in substance multiple awards

Cash Equivalents CTS considers all highly liquid investments

with maturities of three months or less from the purchase

date to be cash equivalents

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or

market Cost is determined using the first-in first-out

method

Income Taxes We account for income taxes in accordance

with FAS 109 Accounting for Income Taxes as clarified by

FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in

Income Taxes FIN 48 Under this method deferred

income taxes are determined based on the estimated future

tax effects of differences between the financial statement

and tax bases of assets and liabilities given the provisions of

enacted tax laws Deferred income tax provisions and bene

fits are based on changes to the assets or liabilities from

year to year In providing for deferred taxes we consider tax

regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate esti

mates of future taxable income and available tax planning

strategies If tax regulations operating results or the ability

to implement tax planning and strategies vary adjustments

to the carrying value of deferred tax assets and liabilities

may be required Valuation allowances are recorded related

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
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to deferred tax assets based on the more likely than not

criteria of FAS No 109

FIN 48 requires that we recognize the financial statement

benefit of tax position only after determining that the

relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the

position following an audit For tax positions meeting the

more-likely-than-not threshold the amount recognized in the

financial statements is the largest benefit that has greater

than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate

settlement with the relevant tax authority Refer also to

Note Income Taxes

Property Plant and Equipment Property plant and equip

ment are stated at cost Depreciation is computed over the

estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line

method Useful lives for buildings and improvements range

from 10 to 45 years Machinery and equipment useful lives

range from three to eight years Amounts expended for

maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as in

curred Upon disposition any related gains or losses are

included in operating earnings

CTS assesses the carrying value of long-lived assets and the

remaining useful lives whenever events or changes in cir

cumstances indicate an impairment may have occurred If

the future cash flows undiscounted and without interest

expected to result from the use of the related assets are

less than the carrying value of such assets an impairment

charge may be required to reduce the carrying value of the

long-lived assets to fair value

Retirement Plans CTS has various defined benefit and

defined contribution retirement plans covering majority of

its employees CTS policy is to annually fund the defined

benefit pension plans at or above the minimum required by

law Refer also to Note Retirement Plans

Effective December 31 2006 CTS adopted the provisions of

FAS No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment of

FASB Statements 87 88 106 and 132R FAS No 158

requires employers to recognize the funded status of

benefit plan measured as the difference between plan

assets at fair value and the benefit obligation in its state

ment of financial position recognize as component of

other comprehensive income net of tax the gains or losses

and prior service costs or credits that arise during the period

but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit

cost pursuant to FAS No 87 Employers Accounting for

Pensions or FAS No 106 Employers Accounting for

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions measure

defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date of

the employers fiscal year-end statement of financial position

and disclosure in the notes to financial statement

continued

additional information about certain effects on net periodic

benefit costs for the next fiscal year that arise from delayed

recognition of the gains or losses prior service costs or

credits and transition asset or obligation As required by the

standard CTS has applied these requirements prospectively

Intangible Assets CTS does not amortize goodwill but tests

it for impairment annually using fair value approach at the

reporting unit level reporting unit is the operating

segment or business one level below that operating

segment the component level if discrete financial infor

mation is prepared and regularly reviewed by senior man

agement However components are aggregated as single

reporting unit if they have similar economic characteristics

During the fourth quarter of 2008 CTS market capitalization

dropped below the net book value of its equity This differ

ence was considered while assessing goodwill impairment

under FAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

CTS completed its annual impairment analysis during the

fourth quarter of 2008 and determined that no impairment

existed at December 31 2008 If CTS market capitalization

remains at or below its current level for an extended period

of time CTS may be required to recognize an impairment in

future period The Company continues to monitor its market

capitalization and re-assess goodwill impairment as neces

sary CTS had approximately $33.2 million and $24.7 million of

goodwill at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

CTS amortizes the cost of other intangibles over straight-

line basis using their estimated useful lives CTS assesses

useful lives based on the period over which the asset is

expected to contribute to CTS cash flows CTS reviews the

carrying value of its intangible assets whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate an impairment may have

occurred If impaired the asset is written down to fair value

based on either discounted cash flows or appraised values

Refer also to Note Intangible Assets

Financial Instruments CTS financial instruments consist

primarily of cash cash equivalents trade receivables and

payables and obligations under short-term notes payable

and long-term debt The carrying values for cash and cash

equivalents and trade receivables and payables and short-

term notes payable approximate fair value based on the

short-term maturities of these instruments CTS has esti

mated the fair value of its long-term debt to be $78.1 million

or $2.4 million less than the carrying value of $80.5 million

The estimated fair value of long-term debt was based on

quoted dealer prices for the same or similar issues The

long-term debt is exchange-traded and classified within

level of the fair value hierarchy because the exchange is

not deemed to be an active market

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Amortization of Debt Issue Costs CTS has debt issue costs

that relate to the Companys long-term debt and are being

amortized over the life of the debt or for convertible debt

the period until the debt is first convertible into common

stock Amortization expense totaled $0.5 million in 2008

$0.6 million in 2007 and $0.6 million in 2006 and is included

in interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated State

ments of Earnings

Reclassifications Certain reclassifications have been

made for the periods presented in the consolidated financial

statements to conform to the classifications adopted in 2008

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

FAS No 141R Business Combinations

In December 2007 the FASB issued FAS No 141R Busi

ness Combinations FAS No 141R which replaces

FAS No 141 Business Combinations FAS No 141 Al

though the general provisions of FAS No 141 are maintained

FAS No 141R effectively replaces FAS No 141s cost

allocation process which required the cost of an acquisition

to be allocated to the individual assets acquired and liabili

ties assumed based on their estimated fair values The

requirements of FAS No 141 resulted in not recognizing

some assets and liabilities at the acquisition date and it also

resulted in measuring some assets and liabilities at amounts

other than their fair values at the acquisition date The

provisions of FAS No 141R were intended to resolve these

issues and therefore improve the relevance completeness

and representational faithfulness of the information provided

This statement is effective for prospective business combi

nations consummated in fiscal years beginning on or after

December 15 2008 CTS does not expect the provisions of

FAS No 141R to have material impact on its consolidated

financial statements

FAS No 160 Non-controlling interests in Consolidated

Financial Statements an Amendment of ARB No 51

In December 2007 the FASB issued FAS No 160 Non-

controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an

Amendment of ARB No 51 FAS No 160 Although

FAS No 160 retains the general accounting consolidation

procedures regarding non-controlling interests there are

two key changes provided by FAS No 160 First accumu

lated losses attributable to such interests can exceed the

original investment in the non-controlling interest That is

non-controlling interest can be in debit position Pro forma

disclosures are required in the year of change Second such

interests are component of equity Under current GAAP
such interests are normally included as either mezzanine

temporary equity or liability This statement is effective for

CTS beginning January 2009 CTS does not expect the

provisions of FAS No 160 to have material impact on its

consolidated financial statements

FASB Staff Position FAS 157-1 Application of FASB State

ment No 157 to FASB Statement No 13 and Other Account

ing Pronouncements that address Fair Value Measurements

for Purposes of Lease Classification or Measurement Under

Statement 13

In February 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position

FAS 157-1 FSP FAS 157-1 FSP FAS 157-1 removes leasing

transactions accounted for under FAS No 13 Accounting

for Leases and related guidance from the scope of

FAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements CTS has adopted

FSP FAS 157-1 and the provisions do not have material

impact on its consolidated financial statements

FASB Staff Position MS 157-2 Effective Date of FASB

Statement No 157

In February 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position

FAS 157-2 FSP FAS 157-2 FSP FAS 157-2 delays the

effective date of FAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements for

all non-recurring fair value measurements of non-financial

assets and non-financial liabilities until fiscal years beginning

after November 15 2008 CTS has adopted FSP FAS 157-2 to

delay the adoption of FAS No 157 for non-financial assets

FAS No 161 Disclosure about Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities an Amendment of FASB Statement

No 133

In March 2008 the FASB issued FAS No 161 Disclosure

about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an

amendment of FASB Statement No 133 FAS No 161
FAS No 161 expands the disclosure requirements in

FAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities This statement is effective for CTS

beginning January 2009 CTS does not expect the provi

sions to have material impact on its consolidated financial

statements

FAS No 162 The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Account

ing Principles

In May 2008 the FASB issued FAS No 162 The Hierarchy

of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles FAS No 162
FAS No 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles

and the framework for selecting the principles used in the

preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental enti

ties that are presented in conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles GAAP in the United States the
GAAP hierarchy The GAAP hierarchy provides for four

categories of GAAP which include in descending order of

authority current pronouncements and its interpreta

tions FASB technical bulletins and AICPA accounting and

industry guides AICPA Practice bulletins and Emerging

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

Issue Task Force Consensus EITFs and FASB imple

mentation guides An entity is required to follow the ac

counting treatment specified by the accounting principle

from the source in the highest category This statement is

effective for CTS 60 days following the SECs approval of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board PCAOB
amendments to AU Section 411 The Meaning of Present

Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles CTS does not expect the provisions to have

material impact on its consolidated financial statements

FASB Staff Position APB 14-1 Accounting for Convertible

Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conver

sion Including Partial Cash Settlement

In May 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position APB 14-i

Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be

Settled in Cash upon Conversion Including Partial Cash

Settlement FSP APB 14-1 FSP APB 14-1 requires issuers

of such instruments to separately account for the liability and

equity components in manner that will reflect the entitys

nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is

recognized in subsequent periods FSP APB 14-1 should be

applied retroactively to all past periods presented even if the

instrument has matured has been converted or has other

wise been extinguished as of FSP APB 14-is effective date

FSP APB 14-1 is effective for CTS beginning January 2009

CTS does not expect the provisions of FSP APB 14-1 to have

material impact on its consolidated financial statements

FASB Staff Position FAS 142-3 Determination of the Useful

Life of Intangible Assets

In April 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS 142-3

Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets FSP
FAS 142-3 which amends the list of factors an entity should

consider in developing renewal or extension assumptions

used to determine the useful life of recognized intangible

asset under FAS No 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets FAS No 142 FSP FAS 142-3 applies to intangible

assets that are acquired individually or with group of

assets and intangible assets acquired in both business

combinations and asset acquisitions FSP FAS 142-3 removes

the provision under FAS No 142 that requires an entity to

consider whether the renewal or extension can be accom

plished without substantial cost or material modifications of

the existing terms and conditions associated with the asset

Instead FSP FAS 142-3 requires that an entity consider its

own experience in renewing similar arrangements An entity

would consider market participant assumptions regarding

renewal if no such relevant experience exists FSP FAS 142-3

is effective for CTS beginning January 2009 CTS does not

expect the provisions to have material impact on its

consolidated financial statements

FASB Staff Position FAS 132R-i Employers Disclosures

about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets

In December 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position

FAS 132R-i Employers Disclosures about Postretirement

Benefit Plan Assets FSP FAS 132R-i which expands

the disclosures required by employers for postretirement

plan assets FSP FAS 132R-i requires plan sponsors to

provide extensive new disclosures about assets in defined

benefit postretirement benefit plans as well as any concen

trations of associated risks In addition this FSP requires

new disclosures similar to those in FAS No 157 Fair Value

Measurements in terms of the three-level fair value hierar

chy including reconciliation of the beginning and ending

balances of plan assets that fall within Level of the

hierarchy FSP FAS 132R-i is effective for periods ending

after December 15 2009

NOTE Acquisitions

In 2008 CTS acquired with cash 100% of the outstanding

capital stock of the following two entities for $21.1 million

net of $1.3 million cash received

Tusonix Inc Tusonix based in Tucson Arizona

leader in the design and manufacture of ceramic electro

magnetic interference and radio frequency interference

EMI/RFI filters and

Orion Manufacturing Inc Orion based in San Jose

California contract electronics manufacturer

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of

the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the dates

of acquisition

in thousands

Tusonix Orion

At January 28 At March 12

2008 2008 Total

current assets 6517 8348 $14865

Property plant and equipment 4792 785 5577

Amortizable intangible assets 2500 1300 3800

Goodwill 1860 6636 8496

Other long-term assets 838 26 864

Fair value of assets acquired

including 1295 cash acquired 14831 17043 31874

current liabilities 2341 7184 9525

Fair value of liabilities acquired 2341 7184 9525

Net assets acquired 12490 9859 22349

cash acquired 1295 1295

Net cash paid $11195 9859 $21054

The acquisition of Tusonix will expand CTS technology and

customer base within the Components and Sensors segment

The acquisition of Orion will enable CTS EMS segment to

achieve significant synergies by combining the Orion
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operation with the CIS operation in Santa Clara California It

will also expand CTS customer base in certain target

markets

Under the terms of the Orion agreement CTS may pay

contingent earn out of up to $1.75 million in cash based on

the achievement of certain financial targets in 2008 and

2009 Contingencies earned under the terms of this agree

ment will be recorded as an adjustment to the purchase

price Accordingly CTS accrued $0.75 million at December 31

2008

CTS determined the preliminary purchase price allocations

on the acquisitions based on estimates of the fair values of

the assets acquired and liabilities assumed These estimates

were arrived at using recognized valuation techniques CTS

is in the process of determining values of certain assets In

addition the Company analyzed historical net operating

losses available for carryforward limitations on those earn

ings in various taxing jurisdictions and other facts and

circumstances that had an impact on the final allocation of

the purchase price to deferred income taxes Accordingly

the allocation of the purchase price is subject to refinement

CTS finalized the purchase price allocation of Tusonix at the

end of January 2009 and expects to finalize Orion by the end

of March 2009

Goodwill recognized in those transactions amounted to

$8.5 million and is not deductible for tax purposes Of this

goodwill $6.6 million was assigned to the EMS segment and

$1.9 million was assigned to the Components and Sensors

segment In addition CTS also recognized $2.5 million and

$1.3 million of customer list intangibles for Tusonix and Orion

respectively These intangibles will be amortized over

period of 15 years and 10 years for Tusonix and Orion

respectively

These acquisitions have been accounted for using the

purchase method of accounting in accordance with

FAS No 141 whereby the total purchase price has been

allocated to tangible and intangible assets based on the fair

market values on the date of acquisition The pro forma

effects of the results of this acquisition is immaterial to CTS

results of operations

In December 2007 CTS acquired Alpha Ceramics Inc Al
pha privately held company for $2.0 million This busi

ness was acquired with $1.0 million cash on hand and

incurrence of $1.0 million liability The results of operations

have been included in the consolidated financial statements

since that date Alpha Ceramics provides piezoceramic ma
terials for sensor and transducer manufacturers in military

and aerospace markets The assets acquired include ma
chinery and equipment inventory and certain intellectual

property

The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase

method of accounting in accordance with FAS No 141

whereby the total purchase price has been allocated to

tangible and intangible assets based on the fair market

values on the date of acquisition The pro forma effects of

the results of this acquisition is immaterial to CTS results of

operations

NOTE Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing

and Financing Activities

In December 2007 CTS acquired 100% of the capital stock of

Alpha Ceramics Inc In conjunction with the acquisition CTS

paid cash and assumed liabilities as follows refer to Note

Acquisitions

in millions

Cash paid $1.0

Liabilities assumed 1.0

Fair value of assets acquired $2.0

NOTE Earnings Per Share

FAS No 128 Earnings per Share requires companies to

provide reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of

the basic and diluted earnings per share EPS computa

tions The calculation below provides net earnings average

common shares outstanding and the resultant earnings per

share for both basic and diluted EPS for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

2008

Basic EPS $29886 33.728 $0.89

Effect of dilutive securities

Equity-based compensation plans 453

Convertible debt 941 3.683

Diluted EPS $30827 37864 $0.81

2007

Basic EPS $25412 35498 $0.72

Effect of dilutive securities

Equity-based compensation plans
472

Convertible debt 998 4000

Diluted EPS $26410 39970 $0.66

2006

Basic EPS $24197 35826 $0.68

Effect of dilutive securities

Equity-based compensation plans
402

Convertible debt 984 4000

Diluted EPS $25181 40228 $0.63

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

In thousands of dollars except

per
share amounts

Shares

Net Earnings In thousands

Numerator Denominator

Per Share

Amount
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The following table shows the securities that could poten

tially dilute EPS in the future but have been excluded from

the 2008 2007 and 2006 diluted earnings per share calcula

tions because they are either anti-dilutive or the exercise

price exceeds the average market price

Number of shares in thousands

Year Ended

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Stock options where the exercise price

exceeds the average market price of

common shares during the period 810 641 695

NOTE Intangible Assets

CTS has the following intangible assets as of December 31

2008 2007

Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

in thousands Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized intangible assets

Customer lists/relationships $51084 $415038 $47284 $412543

Patents 10.319 9886 10319 8815

Employment agreements 142 142

Other intangibles 500 52 500

Total 61903 24976 58245 21502

Goodwill 33150 24657

Total intangible assets $95053 $424976 $82902 $421502

Of the net intangible assets at December 31 2008

$39.5 million relates to the EMS segment and $30.6 million

relates to the Components and Sensors segment Of the

$33.2 million of goodwill $30.8 million relates to the EMS

segment and $2.4 million relates to the Components and

Sensors segment CTS recorded amortization expense of

$3.6 million $3.1 million and $3.2 million for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The

weighted average remaining amortization period for the am
ortizable intangible assets is 16.8 years CTS estimates

annual amortization expense of $3.0 million in 2009

$2.5 million in 2010 $2.4 million in years 2011 through 2013

and $24.3 million thereafter

NOTE Notes Payable

CTS had line of credit arrangements of $12.6 million and

$24.8 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively No

amount was outstanding at December 31 2008 CTS had

$1.0 million outstanding at December 31 2007 These ar

rangements are generally subject to annual renewal and

renegotiation and may be withdrawn at the banks option

The majority of the line of credit arrangements at

December 31 2008 are unsecured However one line of

credit for $0.7 million is secured by the land and building in

Thailand The weighted-average interest rate computed by

relating interest expense to average daily short-term borrow

ings was 4.9% in 2008 and 5.5% in 2007

NOTE Debt

Long-term debt was comprised of the following at

December 31

in thousands 2008 2007

Revolving credit agreement weighted-average

interest rate of 3.3% 2008 and 5.6% 2001

due in 2011 $48000 $12000

Convertible senior subordinated debentures at

weighted-average rate of 2.125% due in

2024 32500 60000

Total long-term debt $80500 $72000

The debt matures as follows 2009 $0 million 2010
$0 million 2011 $48 million 2012SO 2013SO there

after $32.5 million

On June 27 2006 CTS entered into $100 million unsecured

revolving credit agreement Under the terms of the revolving

credit agreement CTS can expand the credit facility to

$150 million subject to participating banks approval There

was $48.0 million and $12.0 outstanding under the revolving

credit agreement at December 31 2008 and 2007 respec

tively At December 31 2008 CTS had $52 million available

under this agreement Interest rates on the revolving credit

agreement fluctuate based upon LIBOR and the Companys

quarterly total leverage ratio CTS pays commitment fee on

the undrawn portion of the revolving credit agreement The

commitment fee varies based on the quarterly leverage ratio

and was 0.20 percent per annum at December 31 2008 The

revolving credit agreement requires among other things that

CTS comply with maximum total leverage ratio and

minimum fixed charge coverage ratio Failure of CTS to

comply with these covenants could reduce the borrowing

availability under the revolving credit agreement CTS was in

compliance with all debt covenants at December 31 2008

The revolving credit agreement requires CTS to deliver

quarterly financial statements annual financial statements

auditors certifications and compliance certificates within

specified number of days after the end of quarter and

year-end Additionally the revolving agreement contains

restrictions limiting CTS ability to dispose of assets incur

certain additional debt repay other debt or amend subordi

nated debt instruments create liens on assets make invest

ments loans or advances make acquisitions or engage in

mergers or consolidations engage in certain transactions

with CTS subsidiaries and affiliates and the amounts al

lowed for stock repurchases and dividend payments The

revolving credit agreement expires in June 2011
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CTS has $32.5 million in aggregate principal amount of senior

subordinated debentures 2.125% Debentures These unse
cured debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 2.125%

payable semiannually on May and November of each year

through the maturity date of May 2024 The 2.125% Deben

tures are convertible under certain circumstances into CTS

common stock at conversion price of $15.00 per share

which is equivalent to an initial conversion rate of approxi

mately 66.6667 shares per $1000 principal amount of the

notes Upon conversion of the 2.125% Debentures in lieu of

delivering common stock the Company may at its discretion

deliver cash or combination of cash and common stock

The conversion price of the 2.125% Debentures will be

adjusted if CTS completes certain transactions including

distribution of shares as dividend to substantially all

shareholders subdivision combination or reclassification of

its common stock distribution of stock purchase warrants to

substantially all shareholders distribution of cash stock or

property to shareholders in excess of $0.03 per share or

purchase of its common stock pursuant to tender offer or

exchange offer under certain circumstances

Holders may convert the 2.125% Debentures at any time

during conversion period if the closing price of CTS common

stock is more than 120% of the conversion price $18.00 per

share for at least 20 of the 30 consecutive trading days

immediately preceding the first trading day of the conversion

period The conversion periods begin on February 15 May 15

August 15 and November 15 of each year Holders may also

convert the debentures if certain corporate transactions oc

cur As of December 31 2008 none of the conditions for

conversion of the 2.125% Debentures were satisfied

CTS may at its option redeem all or portion of the

2.125% Debentures for cash at any time on or after May

2009 at redemption price equal to the principal amount of

the debentures plus any accrued and unpaid interest at the

redemption date Holders may require CTS to purchase for

cash all or part of their debentures on May 2009 2014

and 2019 or upon the occurrence of certain events at 100%

of the principal amount of the debentures plus accrued and

unpaid interest up to but not including the date of purchase

In the fourth quarter 2008 CTS purchased $27.5 million of its

2.125% Debentures through open market discounted transac

tions In the event that portion or all of the remaining

$32.5 million of these debentures are redeemed on May

2009 CTS intends to utilize its existing revolving credit

agreement to fund the redemption in the event other long-

term financing is not utilized

NOTE Retirement Plans

Defined Benefit and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

CTS has number of noncontributory defined benefit pension

plans Pension Plans covering approximately 15% of its

employees Plans covering salaried employees provide pen

sion benefits that are based on the employees compensation

prior to retirement Plans covering hourly employees generally

provide benefits of stated amounts for each year of service

CTS provides postretirement life insurance benefits for cer

tain retired employees Domestic employees who were hired

prior to 1982 and certain domestic union employees are

eligible for life insurance benefits upon retirement CTS funds

life insurance benefits through term life insurance policies

and intends to continue funding all of the premiums on

pay-as-you-go basis

Effective December 31 2006 CTS adopted all of the provi

sions of FAS No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined

Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amend

ment of FASB Statements No 87 88 106 and 132R
FAS No 158 requires employers to recognize the funded

status of benefit plan measured as the difference

between plan assets at fair value and the benefit obliga

tion in its statement of financial position recognize as

component of other comprehensive income net of tax the

gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that arise

during the period but are not recognized as components of

net periodic benefit cost pursuant to FAS No 87 Employers

Accounting for Pensions or FAS No 106 Employers

Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pen

sions measure defined benefit plan assets and obliga

tions as of the date of the employers fiscal year-end

statement of financial position and disclose in the notes

to financial statements additional information about certain

effects on net periodic benefit cost for the next fiscal year

that arise from delayed recognition of the gains or losses

prior service costs or credits and transition asset or obliga

tion As required by the standard CTS has applied these

FAS No 158 requirements prospectively

The measurement date for the Pension Plans and other

postretirement plan assets and benefit obligations was De

cember 31 2008 and 2007 The following table provides

reconciliation of benefit obligation plan assets and the

funded status of the Pension Plans and other postretirement

benefit plan at that measurement date

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Accumulated benefit obligation $198400 $201767 4726 5723

Change in projected benefit obligation

Projected benefit obligation at

January $210228 $216927 5723 5338

Service cost 3532 4763 20 22

Interest cost 13068 11961 368 333

Plan amendment and other 2227 1468

Actuarial gain loss 4511 11849 1250 164

Benefits paid 13687 13042 135 134

Curtailment 420

Projected benefit obligation at

December 31 $205977 $210228 4726 5723

Change in plan assets

Assets at fair value at January $308851 $306344

Actual return on assets 82107 12209

Company contributions 2361 3070 135 134

Benefits paid 13649 13042 135 134

Other 2070 270

Assets at fair value at December 31 $213386 $308851

The components of the prepaid accrued cost net are

classified in the following lines in the Consolidated Balance

Sheets

Prepaid pension asset 18756 $107150

Other accrued liabilities 1020 892 361 311

Other long-term obligations 10327 1635 4365 5346

7409 98623 $4126 $5723

CTS has also recorded the following amounts to Accumu

lated Other Comprehensive loss at December 31 2008

Pension Plans Post Retirement Plans

Prior Prior

Unrecognized Service Unrecognized Service

in thousands Loss Cost Total Loss/Gain Cost Total

Balance at

January 2008 $35396 $1965 $37361 134 $135

Amortization of

retirement

benefits net of tax 1170 323 1493

Reclassification

adjustments 61953 61953 152 752

Balance at

December 31 2008 $96179 $1642 $97821 $618 $1618

not expect to recognize any significant amounts of the Other

Postretirement Benefit Plan unrecognized amounts in 2009

The projected benefit obligation accumulated benefit obliga

tion and fair value of plan assets for those Pension Plans

with accumulated benefit obligation in excess of fair value of

plan assets at December 31 2008 and 2007 is shown below

in thousands 2008

Projected benefit obligation $39190 $10047

Accumulated benefit obligation 31319 8260

Fair value of plan assets 27843 1520

Other

Postretirement

Pension Plans Benefit Plan

in thousands 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Service cost 3532 4763 5113 20 22 19

Interest cost 13068 11961 12086 368 333 299

Expected return on plan assets1 26.341 25386 24739

Amortization of unrecognized

Transition obligation

Prior service cost 538 923 482

Loss 1699 3020 2716

Curtailment loss 325 81

Additional cost due to early

retirement 231 207

Net income expense 7261 4512 4017 $388 $356 $238

Weighted-average actuarial

assumption2

Benefit obligation assumptions

Discount rate 6.86% 6.47% 5.72% 6.90% 6.50% 5.75%

Rate of compensation increase 4.80% 4.81% 4.78%

Pension income/postretirement

Expense assumptions

Discount rate 6.44% 5.11% 5.92% 6.50% 5.15% 6.00%

Expected return on plan

assets1 8.41% 8.43% 8.43%

Rate of compensation increase 4.80% 4.81% 4.70%

Expected return on plan assets is net of expected investment expenses

and certain administrative expenses

During the fourth quarter of each year CTS reviews its actuarial as

sumptions in light of current economic factors to determine if the as

sumptions need to be adjusted

CTS utilizes building block approach in determining the

long-term rate of return for plan assets Historical markets

are reviewed and long-term relationships between equities

and fixed-income are preserved consistent with the generally

accepted capital market principle that assets with higher

volatility generate greater return over the long term

Other

Postretirement

Pension Plans Benefit Plan

in thousands 2008 2007 2008 2007

2007

Funded status plan assets less projected

benefit obligations 7409 98623 $4126 $5723

Net pension income/postretirement expense in 2008 2007

and 2006 includes the following components

Other

Postretirement

in thousands

Pension Plans Benefit Plan

2008 2007 2008 2007

Of these amounts CTS expects to recognize approximately

$4.8 million and $0.5 million of losses and prior service costs

respectively in 2009 related to its Pension Plans CTS does
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Current market factors such as inflation and interest rates

are evaluated before long-term capital market assumptions

are determined The long-term portfolio return is established

via building block approach with proper consideration of

diversification and rebalancing Peer data and historical

returns are reviewed to ensure for reasonableness and

appropriateness

CTS pension plan asset allocation at December 31 2008 and

2007 and target allocation for 2009 by asset category are as

follows

Percentage of

Plane

Target Assets at

Allocations December 31

Asset Category
2009 2009 2007

Equity securitie11

Debt securities

Other

10% 56% 67%

20% 39% 28%

10% 5% 5%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Equity securities include CTS common stock in the amounts of approxi

mately $8.0 million 4% of total plan assets at December 31 2008 and

approximately $14.5 million 5% of total plan assets at December

2007

CTS employs total return on investment approach whereby

mix of equities and fixed income investments are used to

maximize the long-term return of plan assets for prudent

level of risk Risk tolerance is established through careful

consideration of plan liabilities and funded status The in

vestment portfolio primarily contains diversified mix of

equity and fixed-income investments The equity investments

are diversified across U.S and non-U.S stocks as well as

growth value and small and large capitalizations Other

assets such as private equity are used modestly to enhance

long-term returns while improving portfolio diversification

Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing

basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews annual

liability measurements and asseliliability studies at regular

intervals

The expected contributions to be made by CTS to the

Pension Plans and the other postretirement benefit plan

during 2009 are $1.7 million and $0.4 million respectively

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments which reflect expected

future service as appropriate are expected to be paid

Other

Postretirement

in thousands Pension Plans Benefit Plan

2009 $13587 361

2010 14498 369

2011 16706 374

2012 15185 378

2013 16560 380

Thereafter 88005 1854

Defined Contribution Plans

CTS sponsors 401k plan that covers substantially all of its

U.S employees Contributions and costs are generally deter

mined as percentage of the covered employees annual

salary Amounts expensed for the 401k plan and the other

plans totaled $4.1 million in 2008 $3.8 million in 2007 and

$2.9 million in 2006

NOTE Equity-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 CTS adopted the provisions of

FAS No 123R FAS No 123R requires that CTS recognize

expense related to the fair value of equity-based compensa

tion awards in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings

CTS has elected to follow the modified prospective transition

method allowed by FAS No 123R and therefore has

applied the provisions of FAS No 123R to awards modified

or granted after January 2006 In addition for awards

which were unvested as of January 2006 CTS is recogniz

ing compensation expense in the Consolidated Statements of

Earnings over the remaining vesting period The compensa

tion expense for these awards will be based on the grant-

date fair value as calculated for the prior years pro forma

disclosures As allowed under the modified prospective tran

sition method the financial results for prior periods have not

been restated The cumulative effect of the change in

accounting principle from APB Opinion No 25 was not

material

At December 31 2008 CTS had five equity-based compensa

tion plans the 1988 Restricted Stock and Cash Bonus Plan

1988 Plan the 1996 Stock Option Plan 1996 Plan the

2001 Stock Option Plan 2001 Plan the Nonemployee

Directors Stock Retirement Plan Directors Plan and the

2004 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan 2004 Plan All of

these plans except the Directors Plan were approved by

shareholders As of December 2004 additional grants can
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only be made under the 2004 Plan CTS believes that equity-

based awards align the interest of employees with those of

its shareholders

The 2004 Plan and previously the 1996 Plan and 2001 Plan

provide for grants of incentive stock options or nonqualified

stock options to officers key employees and nonemployee

members of CTS Board of Directors In addition the 2004

Plan allows for grants of stock appreciation rights restricted

stock restricted stock units performance shares perfor

mance units and other stock awards

The following table summarizes the compensation expense

included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the

years ending December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 relating to

equity-based compensation plans

in thousands

Year Ended December31

2008 2001 2006

Stock options1 127 371 $1033

Restricted stock units 3216 2797 2826

Restricted stock 32 127 212

Total $3375 $3295 $4071

Stock option expense includes $1 $14 and $45 ending December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively related to non- employee director

stock options

The total tax benefit related to the equity-based compensa
tion plans recognized in income is approximately $1.4 million

$1.3 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

The following table summarizes the plan status as of Decem
ber 31 2008

2004 Plan 2001 Plan 1996 Plan

Awards originally available 6500000 2000000 1200000

Stock options outstanding 313850 743863 236550

Restricted stock units outstanding 700498

Awards exercisable 239325 743863 236550

Awards available for grant 5075709

Stock Options

Stock options are exercisable in cumulative annual install

ments over maximum 10-year period commencing at least

one year from the date of grant Stock options are generally

granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of

the Companys stock on the date of grant The stock options

generally vest over four years and have 10-year contrac

tual life The awards generally contain provisions to either

accelerate vesting or allow vesting to continue on schedule

upon retirement if certain service and age requirements are

met The awards also provide for accelerated vesting if there

is change in control event

The Company estimates the fair value of the stock option on

the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model

and assumptions for expected price volatility option term

risk-free interest rate and dividend yield Expected price

volatilities are based on historical volatilities of the Compa

nys stock The expected option term is derived from histor

ical data on exercise behavior The range of option terms

shown below results from certain groups of employees

exhibiting different behavior The dividend yield is based on

historical dividend payments The risk-free rate for periods

within the contractual life of the option is based on the

U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant

Year Ended December 31

in thousands 2006

Expected volatility 53.3-58.2%

Weighted-average expected volatility 54.1%

Expected dividends 0.9%

Expected term 4.0-10.0 years

Weighted-average risk-free rate 5.1%

summary of the status of stock options as of December 31

2008 and changes during the year then ended is presented

below in thousands of dollars except per share amounts

Weighted-

Weighted- Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Options Shares Price Term Value

Outstanding at January 2008 1426638 16.06

Granted

Exercised 7100 8.40

Expired 125275 32.26

Outstanding at December 31 2008 1294263 14.53 3.9 years

Exercisable at December 31 2008 1219138 14.65 3.1 years

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options

granted during the year 2006 was $6.53 There was no

intrinsic value for options exercised during the year ended

December 31 2008 The total intrinsic value of options

exercised during the years ended December 31 2007 and

2006 was $0.2 million and $0.4 million respectively The

exercise price of options granted during the year ended

December 31 2006 equaled the trading price of the Compa
nys stock on the grant date No stock options were granted

during the years ended December 31 2008 or 2007
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summary of the nonvested stock options as of Decem

ber 31 2008 and changes during the year then ended is

presented below

2008

Weighted

Average

1$ in thousands Grant-Date

except per share amounts Options Fair Value

Nonvested at January 2008 158587 $6.41

Granted

Vested 84062 6.46

Forfeited

Nonvested at December 31 2008 14525 6.36

Based on historical experience CTS currently expects approximately a/l

of these options to vest

The total fair value of options vested during the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was approximately $0.5 mil

lion $0.9 million and $1.1 million respectively As of Decem

ber 31 2008 there was $39000 of unrecognized compensation

cost related to nonvested stock options That cost is expected

to be recognized over weighted-average period of 1.06 years

CTS recognizes expense on straight-line basis over the

requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of

the award as if the award was in substance multiple awards

The following table summarizes information about stock

options outstanding at December 31 2008

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-

Average

Remaining Weighted- Weighted-

Range of Number Contractual Average Number Average

Exercise Outstanding Life Exercise Exercisable Exercise

Prices at 12/31/08 Years Price at 12/31/08 Price

$7.70- 11.11 782.263 4.65 9.44 149238 9.31

13.68 16.24 221800 4.74 14.12 186300 14.22

23.00 33.63 236.950 1.99 24.00 236950 24.80

35.91 79.25 47.250 1.31 49.21 41250 49.21

Service-Based Restricted Stock Units

Service-based restricted stock units RSUs entitle the

holder to receive one share of common stock for each unit

when the unit vests RSUs are issued to officers and key

employees and non-employee directors as compensation

Generally the RSUs vest over three to five-year period

RSUs granted to non-employee directors vest one month

after granted Upon vesting the non-employee directors

elect to either receive the stock associated with the RSU

immediately or defer receipt of the stock until their retire

ment from the Board of Directors The fair value of the RSUs

is equivalent to the trading value of the Companys stock on

the grant date

summary of RSU activity as of December 31 2008 and

changes during the year then ended is presented below in

thousands of dollars except per share amounts

RSUs

Weighted-

Weighted- Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Grant Date Contractual Intrinsic

Units Fair Value Term Value

Outstanding at January 2008 596.148 $12.14

Granted 319950 8.94

Converted 145.360 liii

Forfeited 69.380 11.96

Outstanding at December 31 2008 100358 $10.76 5.9 years $3860

Convertible at December 31 2008 83.438 $11.86 15.8
years

461

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted

during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was

$8.94 $11.89 and $13.80 respectively The total intrinsic value

of RSUs converted during the years ended December 31 2008

and 2007 was $1.6 million and $2.8 million respectively

summary of the nonvested RSUs as of December 31 2008

and changes during the year then ended is presented below

Weighted-

Average

Grant Date

RSUs Fair Value

Nonvested at January 2008 531310 $12.11

Granted 319950 8.94

Vested 164960 11.66

Forfeited 69380 11.96

Nonvested at December 31 2008 616920 $10.61

The total fair value of RSUs vested during the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 was approximately $1.9 million

and $3.1 million respectively As of December 31 2008 there

was $2.9 million of unrecognized compensation cost related

to nonvested RSUs That cost is expected to be recognized

over weighted-average period of 1.51 years CTS recog

nizes expense on straight-line basis over the requisite

service period for each separately vesting portion of the

award as if the award was in substance multiple awards

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

On February 2007 CTS granted performance-based re

stricted stock unit awards for certain executives Executives

received total of 17100 units based on achievement of year-

over-year sales growth and free cash flow performance goals

for fiscal year 2007 These units will cliff vest and convert

one-for-one to CTS common stock on December 31 2010
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On February 2008 CTS granted performance-based re

stricted stock unit awards for certain executives Vesting

may occur if at all at rate of 200% of the target amount of

42200 units in 2010 subject to certification of the 2009 fiscal

year results by CTS independent auditors Vesting is depen

dent upon CTS achievement of sales growth targets

CTS recorded compensation expense of approximately

$81000 and $32000 related to performance-based restricted

stock units during the years ended December 31 2008 and

2007 As of December 31 2008 there was $113000 of unrec

ognized compensation cost related to performance-based

RSUs That cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of 1.50 years

Market-Based Restricted Stock Units

On July 2007 CTS granted market-based restricted stock

unit award for an executive officer An aggregate of

25000 units may be earned in performance years ending in

the following three consecutive years on the anniversary of

the award date Vesting may occur if at all at rate of up to

150% of the target award on the end date of each perfor

mance period and is tied exclusively to CTS total stockholder

return relative to 32 enumerated peer group companies total

stockholder return rates The vesting rate will be determined

using matrix based on percentile ranking of CTS total

stockholder return with peer group total shareholder return

On February 2008 CTS granted market-based restricted

stock unit awards for certain executives Vesting may occur

if at all at rate of up to 200% of the target amount of

63300 units in 2010 Vesting is dependent upon CTS achieve

ment of total stockholder return relative to 29 enumerated

peer group companies stockholder return rates

CTS recorded compensation expense of approximately

$448000 and $18000 related to market-based restricted stock

units during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

As of December 31 2008 there was approximately $597000

of unrecognized compensation cost related to market-based

RSUs That cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted average period of 1.31 years

Restricted Stock and Cash Bonus Plan

CTS 1988 Plan originally reserved 2400000 shares of CTS

common stock for sale at market price or award to key

employees The 1988 Plan was concluded on June 27 2008

Stock Retirement Plan

The Directors Plan provided for portion of the total compen
sation payable to nonemployee directors to be deferred and

paid in CTS stock The Directors Plan was frozen effective

December 2004 All future grants will be from the 2004 Plan

Domestic 7496 $12065 $11584

Non-U.S 21199 20410 19082

Total $29295 $32475 $30666

Significant components of income tax provision benefit are

as follows

In Thousands 2008 2007 2006

Current

Federal

State

Non-U.S

Total Current

Deferred

Federal

State

Non-U.S

Total Deferred

Total Benefit/Provision for

Income Taxes

42 $318

212 463 365

3842 5028 3903

4096 5491 4586

612 1781 886

331 371 939

4406 580 58

4687 1572 1883

591 $7063 $6469

Significant components of the CTS deferred tax liabilities

and assets at December 31 2008 and 2007 are

in thousands 2008

Pensions 6238 40673

Depreciation 2762 1605

Unrealized Foreign Exchange Gain 1165 1594

Other 497 4366

Gross deferred tax liabilities 10662 48238

Postretirement benefits 1654 2018

Inventory reserves 1663 946

Loss carryforwards 75639 75631

Credit carryforwards 11834 11669

Nondeductible accruals 7762 6402

Research expenditures 14525 11497

Other 5611 1824

Gross deferred tax assets 118688 109987

Net deferred tax assets 108026 61749

Deferred tax asset valuation

allowance 18512 19406

Total 89514 42343

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

NOTE Income Taxes

Earnings loss before income taxes consist of the following

In Thousands 2008 2007 2006

2007

CTS CORPORATION 29



The long-term deferred tax liability of approximately $652000

is included as component of Other long-term obligations

on the Consolidated Balance Sheets

At the end of each annual reporting period the Company

makes an assessment of the ultimate realizability of its net

deferred tax assets including deferred tax assets associated

with accumulated net operating losses in the various juris

dictions in which it operates In assessing the ultimate

realizability of its net deferred tax assets the Company

considers its past performance available tax strategies and

expected future taxable income during the tax loss and

credit carryforward periods

Generally the Company assesses that it is more likely than

not that its net tax assets will be realized during the

available carryforward periods The Company has deter

mined however that valuation allowance of $18.5 million

should be provided for certain deferred tax assets The

$0.9 million decrease in the valuation allowance from De

cember 31 2007 to 2008 is due to an increase in the

valuation allowance related to state net operating loss

carryforwards of $0.6 million and decrease in loss carryfor

wards in certain foreign jurisdictions of $1.5 million As of

December 31 2008 the $18.5 million valuation allowance

includes $8.9 million for state net operating loss and credit

carryforwards $5.5 million in foreign tax credit carryfor

wards and $4.1 million related to foreign net operating

losses

The net change in the foreign net operating loss valuation

allowance of $1.5 million resulted from the utilization of

$1.5 million of the Companys Tianjin net operating loss and

the release of the remaining lianjin valuation allowance of

$4.1 million offset by the establishment of valuation allow

ance of $4.1 million related to the Companys Canadian

operations In making these determinations the Company

assessed both positive and negative evidence related to the

losses and determined that it is more likely than not that the

net operating losses in Tianjin will be utilized while the

losses in Canada are expected to expire unutilized

Taxes at the U.S statutory rate

State income taxes net of federal

income tax benefit

Non-US income taxed at rates different

than the U.S statutory rate

Tax exempt earnings

Benefit of scheduled tax credits

Other

Tax rate before the benefit of reversal of

reserves

Benefit of Tax Treaty Change

Adjustments to Valuation Allowances

Effective income tax rate

16.18% 21 .75% 21.10%

4.63% 0.00% 0.00%

14.111% 0.00% 0.00%

2.02% 21.75% 21.10%

During 2008 CTS changed its effective tax rate from 21 .75%

to 2.02% This tax benefit reflects the reversal of valua

tion allowance in China the implementation of the fifth

protocol of the Canada-U.S tax treaty greater portion of

earnings coming from lower tax rate jurisdictions and for

eign tax holidays These tax holidays unless extended are

scheduled to expire in 2009-2011

At December 31 2008 no provision had been made for

U.S federal and state income taxes on approximately

$190 million of foreign earnings which are expected to be

permanently reinvested outside of the United States indefi

nitely Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of

dividends or otherwise the Company would be subject to

U.S income taxes possible adjustment for foreign tax

credits state income taxes and withholding taxes payable to

the various foreign countries Determination of the amount of

unrecognized deferred U.S tax liability is not practical be

cause of the complexities associated with the related

calculation

No valuation allowance was recorded in 2008 against the

U.S net deferred tax assets including the U.S net operating

loss carryforward asset of $55 million expiring in 2021 -2024

The Company assessed the future realization of these de

ferred tax assets utilizing taxable income projections for

years 2009 through 2017 Those projections applied taxable

income estimates consistent with historical earnings patterns

of its traditional automotive and electronic component prod

uct lines and return to levels of profitability in its commu

nication component product line consistent with

management and independent consensus views of the mod

erate recovery expected in the markets served by CTS

Management believes that based upon the historical operat

ing performance of its business units and the successful

cost reduction efforts the Company more likely than not will

realize the benefits of its U.S net deferred tax assets

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

2008 2007 2006

35.00/o 35.00% 35.00%

1.20% 1.67% 2.80%

18.38% 16.0O%

0.00% 0.001%

1.16% 0.20%

0.12% 1.28%

15.60%

0.401%

1.20%

0.50%
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

On January 2007 the Company adopted FASB Interpreta

tion No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

FIN 48 FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in

income tax positions recognized in accordance with

FAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes FIN 48 requires

that an enterprise must determine whether it is more-likely-

than-not that tax position will be sustained upon examina

tion including resolution of any related appeals or litigation

processes based on the technical merits of the position

tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not threshold is

then measured to determine the amount of benefit to recog

nize in the financial statements

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax

returns in the United States federal various state and

foreign jurisdictions The Companys tax years are subject to

examination from 2003-2007 for all U.S jurisdictions Interna

tional tax open years range from 2001-2007 based on the

local statutes U.S taxing authorities also have the ability to

review prior tax years to the extent of net operating losses

and tax credit carryforwards and apply any changes to open

tax years

At the date of adoption CTS had approximately $4.3 million

of unrecognized tax benefits which if recognized would

affect the effective tax rate Of this amount approximately

$3.6 million was reclassified from current tax liabilities to

reduction of the long-term deferred tax asset in accordance

with the provisions of FIN 48 The remaining $0.7 million was

reclassified from current tax liabilities to long term deferred

tax liabilities Adoption of this interpretation had no other

impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

and the Company does not anticipate any significant

changes in its unrecognized tax benefits within the next

12 months as result of examinations or due to statutes

lapsing reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount

of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

in thousands 2008

Balance at January 2008 $4356

Additions based on tax positions related to the current

year 85

Additions for tax positions of prior years 25

Balance at December 31 2008 $4466

CTS continuing practice is to recognize interest and/or

penalties related to income tax matters as income tax

expense However at the time of adoption and at the year

ending December 31 2008 there were no significant

amounts accrued for interest and/or penalties related to

uncertain income tax positions

NOTE Capital Stock

CTS had previously adopted Rights Plan on August 28 1998

but this Rights Plan expired August 27 2008 and has not been

renewed or replaced The Rights Plan was implemented by

declaring dividend distributable to shareholders of record

on September 10 1998 of one common share purchase right

Right for each outstanding share of common stock held at

the close of business on that date Each Right under the

Rights Plan initially
entitled registered holders of common

stock to purchase one one-hundredth of share of CTS

Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock for purchase

price of $125 subject to adjustment The Rights were exercis

able only if person or group acquired or obtained the

right to acquire 15% or more of the common stock or

announced tender offer that resulted in any person or

group acquiring beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the

outstanding common stock The Rights were redeemable for

$0.01 per Right subject to adjustment at the option of the

Board of Directors Until Right was exercised the holder of

the Right as such had no rights as shareholder of CTS

NOTE Treasury Stock

Common stock held in treasury at December 31 2008 totaled

20320759 shares with cost of $297.0 million compared to

19606459 shares with cost of $290.0 million at Decem

ber 31 2007

In November 2005 CTS Board of Directors authorized

program to repurchase up to one million shares of CTS

common stock The authorization expired June 30 2007

Reacquired shares were used to support equity-based com

pensation programs and for other corporate purposes Our

ing 2007 CTS repurchased 395000 shares of common stock

at total cost of $4.9 million before the program expired

In June 2007 CTS Board of Directors authorized program

to repurchase up to two million shares of common stock in

the open market The authorization expires on June 30 2009

Reacquired shares were used to support equity-based com

pensation programs and for other corporate purposes Since

June 2007 CTS has repurchased 2000000 shares at total

cost of $22.2 million which completed this program

In May 2008 CTS Board of Directors authorized program to

repurchase up to one million shares of its common stock in the

open market at maximum price of $13 per share Reacquired

shares will be used to support equity-based compensation

programs and for other corporate purposes During 2008 CTS

repurchased 22500 shares at total cost of $0.2 million

NOTE Segments

FAS No 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise

and Related Information requires companies to provide

certain information about their operating segments CTS has
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two reportable segments Electronics Manufacturing Ser

vices EMS and Components and Sensors

EMS includes the higher level assembly of electronic and

mechanical components into finished subassembly or

assembly performed under contract manufacturing agree

ment with an OEM or other contract manufacturer Addition

ally for some customers CTS provides full turnkey

manufacturing and completion including design bill-of-mate

rial management logistics and repair

Components and sensors are products which perform spe
cific electronic functions for given product family and are

intended for use in customer assemblies Components and

sensors consist principally of automotive sensors and actu

ators used in commercial or consumer vehicles electronic

components used in communications infrastructure and com

puter markets terminators including CIearONETM terminators

used in computer and other high speed applications

switches resistor networks and potentiometers used to

serve multiple markets and fabricated piezo-electric materi

als and substrates used primarily in medical and industrial

markets

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the

same as those described in the summary of significant

accounting policies Management evaluates performance

based upon operating earnings before restructuring and

restructuring-related charges interest and income taxes

Summarized financial information concerning CTS reportable

segments for the years end December 31 2008 2007 and

2006 is shown in the following table

Components

in thousands EMS Sensors

3908

Net sales to external customers $399294 $292413 $691701

Segment operating earnings 12362 24553 36915

Total assets 187024 301431 488455

Depreciation and amortization 7550 16628 24178

Capital expenditures 6536 11111 17647

2007

Net saes to externa customers $405708 $280231 $685945

Segment operating earnings 10175 24716 34891

Iota assets 180785 362901 543692

Depreciation and amortization 7103 15715 22818

Capita expenditures 7730 8328 16058

2008

Net saes to external customers $385744 $269870 $655614

Segment operating earnings 6179 30963 37142

Total assets 169623 358210 527833

Depreciation and amortization 6843 18053 24896

Capita expenditures 6057 9730 15187

Reconciling information between reportable segments oper

ating earnings and CTS consolidated pre-tax income is

shown in the following table

Year Ended December 31

in thousands 2008 2007 2006

Total segment operating earnings $36915 $34891 $37142

Interest expense 3814 3100 3654
Interest income 1421 2052 934

Other income expense 858 1248 568

Restructuring and restructuring-

related charges Components

and Sensors 4999 788 3849

Restructuring and restructuring-

related charges EMS 1086 1828 475

Earnings before income taxes $29295 $32475 $30666

Financial information relating to CTS operations by geo

graphic area was as follows

Year Ended December 31
in thousands 2008 2007 2006

Net Sales

United States $321631 $270123 $263097

Singapore 121396 158092 173118

United Kingdom 43012 82162 82178

China 98002 90033 77713

Canada 47810 50151 40277

Other non-U.S 53856 35384 19231

Consolidated net sales $691707 $685945 $655614

Sales are attributed to countries based upon the origin of

the sale

Year Ended December 31

in thousands 2008 2007 2006

Long-Lived Assets

United States $30340 $25916 $24296

China 34999 34291 35560

United Kingdom 6331 11528 15637

Singapore 6823 8439 9845

Canada 3198 4570 5373

Taiwan 4957 3349 2065

Other non-U.S 4108 4732 3692

Consolidated long-lived assets $90756 $92825 $96468

The EMS segment revenues from Hewlett-Packard repre

sented $77 million or 19% $117 million or 29% and

$143.2 million or 37% of the segments revenue for the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

Total

32 CTS CORPORATION



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

NOTE Contingencies

Certain processes in the manufacture of CTS current and

past products create hazardous waste by-products as cur

rently defined by federal and state laws and regulations CTS

has been notified by the U.S Environmental Protection

Agency state environmental agencies and in some cases

generator groups that it is or may be potentially responsi

ble party regarding hazardous waste remediation at several

non-CTS sites In addition to these non-CTS sites CTS has

an ongoing practice of providing reserves for probable

remediation activities at certain of its manufacturing loca

tions and for claims and proceedings against CTS with

respect to other environmental matters In the opinion of

management based upon presently available information

relating to all such matters either adequate provision for

probable costs has been made or the ultimate costs result

ing will not materially affect the consolidated financial posi

tion results of operations or cash flows of CTS

Certain claims are pending against CTS with respect to

matters arising out of the ordinary conduct of its business

For all claims in the opinion of management based upon

presently available information either adequate provision for

anticipated costs has been made or the ultimate anticipated

costs resulting will not materially affect CTS consolidated

financial position results of operations or cash flows of

CTS

NOTE leases

CTS incurred approximately $6.3 million of rent expense in

2008 $6.1 million in 2007 and $5.7 million in 2006 The future

minimum lease payments under the Companys operating

leases are $7.5 million in 2009 $6.4 million in 2010 $5.1 million

in 2011 $3.5 million in 2012 $2.5 million in 2013 and $2.9 mil

lion thereafter

NOTE Restructuring Charges

In January 2006 CTS announced its intention to consolidate

its Berne Indiana manufacturing operations into three of its

other existing facilities Automotive product operations at

Berne were transferred to CTS automotive facilities in Mata

moros Mexico and Elkhart Indiana Electronic components

operations in Berne were moved to CTS Singapore facility

The Berne facility is currently being marketed for sale As of

December 31 2006 the Berne consolidation process was

substantially completed with all expected charges recorded

The following table displays the planned costs associated

with the Berne consolidation as well as summary of the

actual costs incurred through December 31 2006

in millions January 2006 Plan

Actual incurred

through

Planned Costs December 31 2006

Workforce reduction $3.1 $2.6

Posteniployment obligation

curtailment net 0.2 0.2

Other 0.1 0.1

Restructuring charge 3.4 2.9

Equipment relocation 0.3 0.5

Other employee related costs 0.3 0.5

Restructuring-related costs 0.6 10

Total restructuring and

restructuring-related costs $4.0 $3.9

Additionally during 2006 CTS recorded pre-tax restructur

ing charge of $0.4 million or $0.3 million after-tax and $0.01

per diluted share when it revised its estimate of the fair

value of the remaining net liability of the operating lease for

the idle Marlborough facility

Of the restructuring and restructuring-related costs $3.9 mil

lion relates to the Components and Sensors segment and

$0.4 million relates to the EMS segment Restructuring

charges are reported on separate line on the Consolidated

Statement of Earnings and the restructuring-related costs

are included in cost of goods sold

In November 2007 CTS realigned certain manufacturing

operations and eliminated approximately 103 net positions

during the fourth quarter of 2007 The realignment was

intended to create synergies by further enhancing the

Companys shared services model to include manufacturing

support functions at its locations that serve more than one

business The realignment plans were completed by June

2008
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The following table displays the planned restructuring and

restructuring-related charges associated with the realign

ment as well as summary of the actual costs incurred

through December 31 2008

Actual incurred

through

in millions November 2007 Plan Planned Costs December 31 2008

Workforce reduction $1.7 $1.5

Asset Impairments 0.9 1.2

Restructuring charge 2.6 2.7

Equipment relocation 0.2 0.1

Other costs 0.2 0.4

Restructuring-related costs 0.4 0.5

Total restructuring and

restructuring-related costs $3.0 $3.2

Of the restructuring and restructuring-related costs incurred

$0.9 million relates to the Components and Sensors segment

and $2.3 million relates to the EMS segment Restructuring

charges are reported on separate line on the Consolidated

Statements of Earnings and the restructuring-related costs

are included in cost of goods sold

The following table displays the restructuring reserve activity

related to the realignment for the year ending December 31

2008

Restructuring liability at January 2008 0.6

Restructuring charge 0.3

Cost paid 0.9

Restructuring liability at December 31 2008 0.0

In September 2008 CTS initiated certain restructuring actions

to transfer and consolidate certain operations to further

improve its cost structure These actions resulted in the

elimination of approximately 400 positions and the write-off

of certain leasehold improvements during the second half of

2008 These actions were substantially complete in Decem

ber 2008

The following table displays the planned restructuring and

restructuring-related charges associated with the realign

ment as well as summary of the actual costs incurred

through December 31 2008

Actual incurred

through

in millions September 2008 Plan Planned Costs December 31 2008

Workforce reduction $2.4 $3.9

Asset impairments 1.1 1.2

Other charges 0.2 0.1

Restructuring charge 3.1 5.2

Equipment and employee

relocation 0.2 0.1

Other costs 0.5 0.2

Restructuring-related costs 0.7 0.3

Total restructuring and

restructuring-related costs $4.4 $5.5

Of the restructuring and restructuring-related costs incurred

$4.8 million relates to the Components and Sensors segment

and $0.7 million relates to the EMS segment Restructuring

charges are reported on separate line on the Consolidated

Statements of Earnings and the restructuring-related costs

are included in cost of goods sold

The following table displays the restructuring reserve activity

related to the realignment for the period ended December 31

2008

in millions September 2008 Plan

Restructuring liability at January 2008 0.0

Restructuring and restructuring-related charges excluding

asset impairments and write-offs 4.1

Cost paid 2.4

Restructuring liability at December 31 2008 1.7

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

in millions November 2007 Plan
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NOTE Quarterly Financial Data

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

Quarterly Results of Operations

Una udited

Net Gross Operating Net

Sales Margins Earnings Earnings

2008

4th quarter $162827 29746 3780 5652

3rd quarter 170034 33350 4885 1611

2nd quarter 186091 40153 13184 9957

1st quarter 172755 33824 8381 6666

$691101 $137073 $30830 $29886

2007

4th quarter

3rd quarter

2nd quarter

1st quarter

$178273 35617 9508 7667

174790 33793 9917 7794

169624 32944 7902 5905

163258 30338 4948 4046

$685945 $132692 $32275 $25412
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CTS CORPORATION
SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at
Additions

Beginning of Charged to Charged to Balance at

Period Expense Other Accounts Deductions End of Period

In thousands of dollars

Year ended December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts $1304 874 13 $2165

Inventory reserve provision $6392 $5144 $4755 $6781

Year ended December 31 2007

Allowance for doubtful accounts $2139 122 957 $1304

Inventory reserve provision $5428 $3713 $2749 $6392

Year ended December 31 2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts $2373 883 $1117hh $2139

Inventory reserve provision $6187 $3184 $3943 $5428

Majority of deductions relates to the write-off of receivables due from Delphi Automotive Systems which declared Chapter 11 bankruptcy
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EXHIBIT 21

CTS CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

As of December 31 2008

CTS Corporation Registrant an Indiana corporation

Subsidiary Jurisdiction

CTS Corporation Delaware

CTS of Panama Inc Republic of Panama

CTS Components Taiwan Ltd Republic of China

CTS Electro de Matamoros S.A Republic of Mexico

CTS Japan Inc Japan

CTS International B.V The Netherlands

CTS Czech Republic S.R.O Czech Republic

CTS Singapore Pte Ltd Republic of Singapore

CTS Tianjin Electronics Company Ltd Peoples Republic of China

CTS Electronics Dongguan Ltd Peoples Republic of China

CTS Zhongshan Technology Co Ltd Peoples Republic of China

CTS of Canada Holding Company Province of Nova Scotia Canada

CTS of Canada G.P Ltd Province of Ontario Canada

CTS of Canada L.P Province of Ontario Canada

CTS of Canada Co Province of Nova Scotia Canada

CTS Corporation U.K Ltd Scotland

CTS Printex Inc California

CTS Electronics Components Inc Delaware

Dynamics Corporation of America New York

CTS Electronic Components California Inc California

LTB Investment Corporation
Delaware

CTS Electronics Manufacturing Solutions Inc Delaware

CTS Electronics Manufacturing Solutions Moorpark Inc California

CTS Electronics Manufacturing Solutions Santa Clara Inc California

CTS Electronics Manufacturing Solutions Massachusetts Inc Massachusetts

Technetics Inc California

CTS Electronics Corporation Thailand Ltd Thailand

CTS Electronics Hong Kong Ltd Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

of the Peoples Republic of China

Tusonix Inc Arizona

Tecnologia Mexicana S.A de C.V Republic of Mexico

CTS Europe GmbH Germany
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EXHIBIT 23a
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated February 20 2009 with respect to the consolidated

financial statements schedule and internal control over financial reporting which

report does not include internal control over financial reporting over Tusonix Inc

acquired during 2008 included in the Annual Report of CTS Corporation and Subsidiar

ies on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 We hereby consent to the

incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statements of CTS Corpo

ration on Forms S-3 Nos 333-117826 effective August 19 2004 333-88448 effective

June 2002 and 333-72146 effective November 2001 and on Form S-8

No 333-116287 effective June 2004

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 20 2009
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EXHIBIT 31

CERTIFICATION

Vinod Khilnani certify that

have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-K of CTS Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods

presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which

this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of financial statement for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusion about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by

this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent function

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and

report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 23 2009 By Is Vinod Khllnani

Vinod Khilnani

President and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31b
CERTIFICATION

Donna Belusar certify that

have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-K of CTS Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods

presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which

this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of financial statement for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusion about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by

this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent function

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and

report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 23 2009 By /s/ Donna Belusar

Donna Belusar

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32a
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of CTS Corporation the Company on Form 10-K

for the quarter ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof the Report the undersigned officer of the Company

certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C ss 1350 as adopted pursuant to ss 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects

the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date February 23 2009 By Is Vinod Khllnani

Vinod Khilnani

President and Chief

Executive Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided

to CTS Corporation and will be retained by CTS Corporation and furnished to the

Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request

CTS CORPORATION 41



EXHIBIT 32b
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of CTS Corporation the Company on Form 10-K

for the quarter ended December 31 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof the Report the undersigned officer of the Company

certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C ss 1350 as adopted pursuant to ss 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects

the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date February 23 2009 By Is Donna Belusar

Donna Belusar

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided

to CTS Corporation and will be retained by CTS Corporation and furnished to the

Securities and Exchange Commission or its staft upon request
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Return

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on CTS common stock with the Standard Poors 500

Stock Index and the Standard Poors 500 Information Technology Stock for the years 2003 through 2007 The graph assumes

that $100 was invested on December 31 2002 in each of CTS common stock the SP 500 Stock Index and the SP 500

Information Technology Stock Index
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Base INDEXED RETURNS

Period Years Ending

Company Index 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

CTS Corporation
100 116.66 98.05 140.35 89.65 50.43

SP 500 Index 100 110.88 116.33 134.70 142.10 89.53

SP 500 Information Technology Index 100 102.56 103.58 112.29 130.61 74.26
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Shareholder Information

Annual Meeting of Shareholders

The 2009 annual meeting of shareholders is

scheduled to be held on Wednesday May 27

2009 in Bloomingdale Illinois Shareholders of

record at the close of business on April 2009

will receive formal notice of the annual meeting

and proxy statement

Form 10-K Annual Report

copy of CTS Corporations Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission is available to shareholders upon

written request to the Secretary of the Company

or by visiting our Web site www.ctscorp.com

Common Stock Listed CTS
New York Stock Exchange

CTS submitted Section 12 CEO Certification

to the New York Stock Exchange in 2008 as

required by New York Stock Exchange Corporate

Governance Listing Standards CTS filed the CEO

CFO certifications required under Section 302

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as an exhibit to its

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December31 2008

Investor Relations

Shareholders and members of the

financial community may direct

questions or requests to

Mitchell Walorski

Director Planning and Investor Relations

CIS Corporation

905 West Boulevard North

Elkhart IN 46514

574-523-3800

E-mail

shareholder.services@ctscorp.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar

National City now part of PNC

Locator 5352

Corporate Trust Operations

P.O Box 92301

Cleveland OH 44193-0900

800-622-6757 Fax 216-257-8508

Corporate Headquarters

CTS Corporation

905 West Boulevard North

Elkhart IN 46514

574-523-3800

www.ctscorp.com

2008 Board of Directors

Roger Hemminghaus

CTS Chairman of the Board and Retired

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Ultramar Diamond Shamrock Corporation

Walter Catlow

Dean College of Business

Concordia University Chicago and

Retired President Ameritech Cellular Service

Lawrence Ciancia

Partner

Corporate Development International Inc

Thomas Cody

Vice Chairman

Macys Inc

Patricia Collawn

President and Chief Operating Officer

PNM Resources Inc

Gerald Frieling Jr

President

Frieling and Associates

Michael Henning

Retired Deputy Chairman

Ernst Young LLP

Vinod Khilnani

President and Chief Executive Officer

CTS Corporation

Robert Profusek

Partner

Jones Day

Officers

Vinod Khilnani

President and Chief Executive Officer

Donald Schroeder

Executive Vice President and General Manager of

CTS Electronic Components

Donna Belusar

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

James Cummins

Senior Vice President Administration

Richard Cutter Ill

Vice President Secretary and General Counsel

Thomas Kroll

Vice President and Controller

Matthew Long

Treasurer

Bret Robertson

Senior Vice President and General Manager of

CTS Electronics Manufacturing Solutions

Mohan Mahadevan

Vice President

Dennis Thornton

Vice President and General Manager of

CTS Automotive Products

2008 Committees of

the Board

Compensation Committee

Thomas Cody Chairman

Walter Catlow

Patricia Collawn

Michael Henning

Nominating and Governance Committee

Lawrence Ciancia Chairman

Thomas Cody

Patricia Collawn

Gerald Frieling Jr

Finance and Strategic Initiatives

Committee

Robert Profusek Chairman

Walter Catlow

Gerald
Frieling Jr

Vinod Khilnani

Audit Committee

Michael Henning Chairman

Walter Catlow

Lawrence Ciancia

Gerald Frieling Jr



manutacturing

SENSORS AND ACTUATORS

Elkhart Indiana

Toronto Canada

Matamoros Mexico

Glasgow Scotland

Ostrava Czech Republic

Kaohsiung Taiwan Republic of China

Zhongshan Peoples Republic of China

ELECTRONIC COMPONENTS

Bloomingdale Illinois

Albuquerque New Mexico

Tucson Arizona

Nogales Mexico

Tianjin Peoples Republic of China

Singapore Republic of Singapore

ELECTROCOMPONENT PRODUCTS

Kaohsiung Taiwan Republic of China

Zhongshan Peoples Republic of China

ELECTRONICS MANUFACTURING SOLUTIONS

Moorpark California

San Jose California

Londonderry New Hampshire

Glasgow Scotland

Tianjin Peoples Republic of China

Singapore Republic of Singapore

Bangkok Ayutthya Thailand

Matamoros Mexico

CTB
CORPORATION

905 West Boulevard North

Elkhart IN 46514

Phone 574-523-3800

Fax 574-293-6146

www.ctscorp.com


